
 
Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
 Venue Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine 

Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  
 Date: Thursday, 2nd December, 2021 
 Time: 2.00 pm 
 Contact 

Officer: 
Rose Blaney           Tel: 07385 362773 

 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
2.   Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:  

  
To receive declarations by Members and/ or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence 
not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register 
or at the meeting).  
 
Members are advised however, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register, as well as any other interests.  
 
Members are reminded that they may not, by law, participate or vote 
in any discussion in a meeting on a matter in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest  
 
Members are advised that they should leave the room during 
consideration of any items of business in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 1 - 4 

4.   Executive Forward Plan 5 - 10 

5.   West Cumbria Community Partnership Update  
6.   Social Media Policy Review Task & Finish Group Report 11 - 42 

7.   Effective Digital Engagement Task & Finish Group Report 43 - 112 

8.   Yearly Review 113 - 124 

9.   Scrutiny Officer Updates 125 - 130 

10.   Date and Time of Next Meeting:  
 The next meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be held on 

Tuesday 18th January 2022 at 2:00pm in The Atrium, Copeland Centre, 
Whitehaven. 
 

 

 
Membership: Councillors John Kane (Chair), Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair), 
James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Joseph Ghayouba, 
Charles Maudling, Sam Meteer, Sam Pollen, Peter Tyson and Doug Wilson 
 
 
Contacts: Direct Dial: 07385 362773 
 E-mail: rose.blaney@copeland.gov.uk 
 Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY, 4 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

Present: Councillors John Kane, in the Chair; Felicity Wilson, James Date, 
Gwynneth Everett, Charles Maudling, Sam Meteer, Sam Pollen and Peter Tyson 
 
Officers: Rose Blaney (Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)), Sarah Pemberton 
(Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy), Sarah Pearce 
(Information Governance and Data Compliance Officer) and Stephanie Shaw 
(Electoral and Democratic Services Manager) 
 
 

OSC45 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Joseph Ghayouba and 
Douglas Wilson. 
 

OSC46 Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:  
 
No Declarations of Interest were made. 
 

OSC47 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2021  
 
Councillors reviewed the minutes of the previous Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) meeting. 
 
The Scrutiny Officer highlighted some updates regarding the resolutions, 
including confirmation that the minutes of the meeting on 2 September were 
correct and the information requested had been sent bar one exception which 
the Scrutiny Officer agreed to resolve. 
 
Resolved – That,  
 

a) with six votes for and two abstentions, the Committee agreed that the 

minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2021 were approved as a true 

and accurate record. 

b) The Scrutiny Officer ensure a copy of the presentation given by the 

Portfolio Holder for Commercial Services has been sent to all members of 

the Committee. 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



OSC48 Executive Forward Plan  
 

The Committee reviewed the Executive Forward Plan. 

Councillor Pollen asked for further information regarding Property Acquisition 
and the Half Yearly Health & Safety Report and noted his concerns regarding the 
Budget coming to OSC after the Executive. 
 
The Electoral and Democratic Services Manager noted that the Property 
Acquisition report is available to all councillors upon request due to being a part 
two document.  
 
The Scrutiny Officer noted that the Health & Safety Report would be discussed 
under agenda item 7 and that the Budget would be coming to OSC in enough 
time for their feedback to be given to the Executive members. 
 
Resolved – That, 
 

a) With a unanimous vote, the Committee agreed that the Executive 

Forward Plan be noted.  

 
OSC49 Surveillance Equipment Policy  

 
The Information Governance and Data Compliance Officer introduced the report 
and invited the Committee to provide comments and feedback. 
 
Councillors enquired about a previous surveillance policy and who has the 
authorisation to enable covert surveillance using the cameras covered in the 
policy. Questions were also asked around the possibility of discussing with the 
appropriate officer getting cameras installed at certain sites, specifically sites 
suffering from fly-tipping, and the process for landowners installing their own 
cameras. 
 
The Information Governance and Data Compliance Officer and Director of 
Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy discussed the issues with the 
Committee. It was highlighted that the authorisation to use the surveillance 
equipment covertly comes from a RIPA Policy, and those are only granted after 
the council’s legal team has applied to the courts for permission. The officer 
clarified the difference between overt and covert cameras covered within the 
policy and that the process for landowners installing cameras is dependent on 
certain factors but must follow the national Surveillance Camera Code of 
Practice (SCCoP). The Director also noted that, while taking into account budget 
pressures, the possibility of cameras being installed in certain areas in relation 

Page 2



to fly-tipping was worthy of consideration and something that she would be 
willing to explore. 
 
Councillor Tyson asked how the cameras were monitored. The Information 
Governance and Data Compliance Officer answered that the cameras are not 
routinely monitored, but instead are capturing images that are held on record 
for 30 days. Those images are only viewed under certain circumstances. 
 
Resolved – That,  
 

a) with a unanimous vote, the Committee agreed to note the report and 

provide their feedback. 

b) The Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy would send 

Councillor Meteer a copy of the RIPA policy. 

 
OSC50 Annual Feedback Summary  

 
The Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy gave an 
introduction of the report and highlighted key facts before inviting members to 
make comments 

Councillors had a discussion around the waste service and its front-line staff 
which had accumulated the largest number of complaints within the report. 
Noting that it was a council issue, not just the staff. The Director noted the 
concerns and highlighted the ways that the council are looking to tackle the 
issues brought forward through the complaints and how the council is 
prioritising staff’s wellbeing.  

Councillors took this opportunity to send their thanks to all staff and front-line 
services for all their hard work since the start of the pandemic. 

Councillor Meteer asked if all complaints, compliments and comments are 
captured within the Pentana system. The Director clarified that the system 
captures all ‘official’ complaints, compliments and comments, that those which 
are solved via dialogue with departments are not recorded within the report. 

Councillor Tyson asked for further information regarding the licensing complaint 
mentioned within the report which the Director agreed to provide after the 
meeting. 

Resolved – That,  
 

a) with a unanimous vote, the Committee agreed to note the report and 

provide their comments. 

Page 3



b) The Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy to send 

Councillor Tyson the further information requested. 

 
OSC51 Scrutiny Officer Updates  

 

The Scrutiny Officer gave the Committee updates on both the Work Programme 
and the Task & Finish Groups.  

The Scrutiny Officer took members through the Work Programme and noted 
that two reports from ongoing Task and Finish Groups (Social Medial Policy 
Review and Effective Digital Engagement) will be coming to the December 
meeting, the two Quarter 2 reports have been delayed until January 2022 and 
the ‘Update to Climate Action Plan’ and ‘Health and Safety Monitoring Half 
Yearly’ reports will also be coming to OSC in January 2022 

The Scrutiny Officer noted that there were no updates to give pertaining to the 
Task & Finish Groups, apart from highlighting that two are coming to an end by 
bringing their reports to the group in December. 

 
OSC52 Date and Time of Next Meeting:  

 
The Chair informed members that the next Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be held on Thursday 2nd December 2021 at 2pm in the Copeland Centre.  
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 3.00 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 4



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

  

  

Executive 9 November 2021 

MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN  

  

This Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period.  

  

A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 

performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 

(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 

effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 

constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 

the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 

permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough.  

  

A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 

An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 

reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 

notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the grounds that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred.  

  

Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 

Deputy Mayor, Steven Morgan and Andy Pratt. 

  

Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 

containing confidential or exempt information.  

  

 

   

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 4



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

Social Inclusion 

Annual Report 

Council Council 

7 December 2021 

 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

2020/21 Finance 

Outturn Report 

Council Council 

7 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Surveillance 

Equipment Policy 

2021 

Council Council 

7 December 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy 

 

Yes No 

Towns Fund Update Council Council 

7 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 2  

 

Executive   Executive 

14 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 2 

Executive Executive 

14 December 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy 

Yes No 

P
age 6



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

Strategic Agreement Executive Executive 

14 December 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes Yes 

Peoples’ Panel Executive Executive 

14 December 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

No No 

Towns Fund 

Assurance 

Framework 

Executive   Executive 

14 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

Hillcrest Community 

Centre – Proposed 

Lease 

Executive Executive 

14 December 2021 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy 

 

No Np 

Draft Budget (incl 

Amendments to 

Discretionary Relief 

Policy, Discount and 

Premium Policy, Pay 

Policy Statement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council 

Executive 

25 January 2022 

 

Overview & Scrutiny 

3 February 2022 

 

Council 

8 February 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

P
age 7



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 3 

Executive Executive 

1 February 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy  

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 3  

 

Executive   Executive 

1 February 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

Yes No 

Health and Safety 

Monitoring Half 

Yearly Report 

1st Jul – 31st Dec ‘21 

 

Executive Executive 

1 February 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

 

No No 

Update to Climate 

Action Plan 

Executive   Executive 

1 February 2022 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

Budget (incl 

Amendments to 

Discretionary Relief 

Policy, Discount and 

Premium Policy, Pay 

Policy Statement 

 

Council Council (Prov) 

22 February 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

P
age 8



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 4 

Executive Executive 

May 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy  

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 4  

 

Executive   Executive 

May 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

Yes No 

Outside Bodies 

Annual Report 

 

 

 

Council 

Overview & Scrutiny 

May 2022 

 

Council 

June 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy  

No No 

Annual Scrutiny 

Report 

 

 

 

Council 

Overview & Scrutiny 

May 2022 

 

Council 

June 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy  

No No 

Health and Safety 

Monitoring Half 

Yearly Report 

1st Jan – 30th Jun ‘22 

 

Executive Executive 

July 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

 

No No 

P
age 9



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

2022/23 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 1 

Executive Executive 

August 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy  

Yes No 

2022/23 Finance 

Report – Quarter 1  

 

Executive   Executive 

August 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

2022/23 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 2 

Executive Executive 

November 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy  

Yes No 

2022/23 Finance 

Report – Quarter 2  

 

Executive   Executive 

November 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

Yes No 

 

P
age 10



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
REPORT FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUP – SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY REVIEW 

 
LEAD MEMBER: Councillor Jeffrey Hailes, Chair of the Social Media 

Policy Review Task & Finish Group    
 
LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and 

Commercial Strategy 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Rose Blaney, Scrutiny Officer   
 
             

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Overview & Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 
 

1) Accept the recommendations made in Section 5 of this report  
2) Forward the recommendations to the Executive 

 
 

  

  

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report has been prepared to provide Members with an update of the 

Social Media Policy Review Task and Finish Group. 

 

1.2 Within the current Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy 

(2019), under Policy Monitoring, it is suggested that the policy should be 

reviewed and updated every two years. It has been two years since a 

review was done by the Information Governance Officer and four years 

since a review through a Task & Finish Group. 

 

1.3 The Task & Finish Group consisted of Councillors Jeffrey Hailes, Jeanette 

Forster and Linda Jones-Bulman.  The group met three times and have 

now completed their work. 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

2. BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 The original 2017 policy suggests that the policy should be reviewed and 
updated every two years or when there has been an update within 
legislation. Although a review was undertaken in 2019, this was done only 
by the Information Governance Officer in accordance with IPCO 
recommendations. 
 

2.2 Overview and Scrutiny felt that a full review though a Task & Finish group 
would be more beneficial for this review after two years since the last one 
(in accordance with the policy). 

 
2.3 There is the perception that with the Covid-19 Pandemic restricting 

people from interacting, Social Media has been used more by both 
Councillors and council staff. 

 
2.4 The increase in Code of Conduct complaints relating to Social Media use 

was also a motivation for councillors to want to review the current 
guidance and policy. 

 
3. SCOPE 

 
3.1 The Task & Finish Group agreed three key objectives: 

1) To review the current guidance and policy for Social Media use. 
2) To work with the Communications team to understand the changes 

in Social Media and how they have worked since the creation of the 
policy in 2017 and the update in 2019. 

3) To update and amend the current policy to reflect the post-Covid-
19 world, and more generally the rise in use of social media. 
 

3.2 The review only includes the Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use 
Policy; it does not cover any of the council’s policy documents directly 
linked to the policy. Those not covered within the review are detailed in 
section 8 (References) of the current Social Media policy. 

 
3.3 Consideration needed to be given into how the changes to the policy 

would affect both councillors and council employees. 
 
3.4 The group noted that any changes made would need to reflect the current 

Social Media setting and be understandable to avoid any possible 
confusion. 

Page 12



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 
3.5 The group wanted to ensure that the information included within the 

updated policy was clear and concise to enable both council staff and 
councillors to understand what is being asked of them within the policy. 

 
 

4. Review 
 
4.1 The review began by creating the scope, with the group wanting to be 

able to answer five key questions: 
1) What has changed since the original policy was created? 
2) How can the social media policy be improved upon? 
3) What should be taken into consideration when implementing 

changes to the social media policy? 
4) Does the policy cover the majority of social media platforms that 

could be used by councillors and employees? 
5) Does the policy include the correct amount of information 

needed for councillors and employees to follow the policy 
correctly? 
 

4.2 Once the scope was agreed, the group began to analyse the current Social 
Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy. 

 
4.3 Once the group had a list of points that they believed needed to be 

amended, updated or investigated further, they arranged to have a 
meeting with the Communications Team. 

 
4.4 The Communications and Engagement Manager attended the meeting on 

behalf of the Communications Team to discuss the current policy and 
proposed policy updates. 

 
4.5 Following the conversations with the Manager, the group compiled the 

proposed amendments into the policy. A full list of the proposals can be 
found under 5.1. 

 
4.7 The group had a final consultation with the Communications and 

Engagement Manager and also consulted with the Policy Officer before 
bringing the draft version of the updated policy to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 

Page 13



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 As mentioned above, the group proposed a number of amendments to 

the 2019 policy for Overview and Scrutiny to consider and then, subject to 
OSC’s agreement, forward to the Executive. The updates are: 

a) Introduce a new appendix – Appendix D – which will include 
the Members Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct is 
mentioned throughout the policy, it was felt by the group 
that by adding it as an appendix it would further 
understanding of the policy and would also enable members 
to have another reference point as to where to find the Code 
of Conduct. 

b) Under section 3 (Scope), the second paragraph would be 
reworded to instead state: 
 

“The policy advocates the acceptable usage and conduct of all those who 
represent Copeland Borough Council (whether that be as a councillor or 
employee) when using any type of social media.” 
 

c) Update the table within section 4 (Definitions) to remove 
‘MySpace’ which is no longer widely used and replace it with 
the more popular ‘TikTok’. Although the table is not an 
exhaustive list, providing only a few examples, the group felt 
as though it would be more beneficial to have the most 
commonly used types of social media as the examples given. 

d) It was requested that, under section 5 (Policy Details), the 
paragraph entitled ‘Conduct’ is amended to show a clear 
definition between what is expected of employees and what 
is expected of councillors. The aim of this is to provide 
clarification of what information relates to who. The 
amendment was the preferred option, rather than creating 
two policies; one for members and one for employees.  

e) Amend the second paragraph in section 7 (Policy Monitoring) 
to reflect the change in the reporting structure with the Audit 
and Governance no longer existing in the same format. It was 
suggested that the paragraph should now read: 

 
“Incidents/complaints of a social media nature involving members, will be 
reported to the Standards and Ethics Committee on a regular basis, in the normal 
way.” 

Page 14



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 
f) A request was made to have included, within Appendix A 

under ‘Actions’, a point relating to councillors not posting on 
any social media site during a live meeting. Highlighting that 
it could be potentially dangerous, especially if on a sensitive 
subject, and if a post was made before all the information 
could be given, the post could hold incorrect information 
which could cause issues. 

g) Policy Appendix A, point 11, highlights being aware of your 
own safety when placing information on the internet. The 
group would like to add the example of adding personal 
contact information. Councillor contact information is 
published on the Council’s website, publishing other personal 
contact information could be dangerous. 

h) Policy Appendix B needs to be updated to provide a more in-
depth ‘How To’ for taking screenshots and attaching them to 
emails. 

i) A request was made to change policy Appendix C, 
commenting that blogging was no longer a popular method 
for councillors. However, it was also noted that social media 
trends tend to come and go. So, rather than change Appendix 
C, the title and content will be updated to “Guidance for 
Councillors on Blogging and Similar Content”. The similar 
content is in reference to posts that are made as part of a 
series for a topic discussion which can be made across 
multiple platforms. The content of policy Appendix C would 
be updated accordingly. 
 

5.2 All of the amendments mentioned above can be seen within the draft 
policy attached at Appendix A of this report. 

 
5.3 A note was also made to recommend training with the Communications 

team be available to members upon request. 
 
5.4 The Group also recommends that an email be sent to all councillors 

following the amendments to the policy being agreed, to highlight what is 
expected of them in relation to social media conduct. 

 
 
 

Page 15



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 In conclusion, the Task & Finish group noted that the majority of the 2019 

Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy still held true and, as 
much as the world of Social Media may have changed in the past two 
years, the majority of the guidance within the policy was still accurate. 

 
6.2 The group believe that updating this policy now will help provide clarity to 

both members and council employees, especially in the upcoming 18 
months leading to Local Government Reorganisation. 

 
6.3 Though the amendments made are minor in terms of the whole policy, 

the group believe that keeping the policy as up to date as possible would 
benefit the council as a whole. 

 
 
 
Appendices: A. Draft - Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy 2021 

 
Background Documents: Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy 2019 

  

Page 16



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Social Media 
 

Guidance  
and  

Acceptable Use Policy  
 

 
Version: Draft 4 
November 2021 

Page 17



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 2 of 25 

  
Document Control 

 
Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title Social Media – Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy 

Version 4 

Author Rose Blaney 

Filename  

Owner MIS Manager 

Subject Acceptable use of Social Media sites 

Protective Marking  

Review due date November 2023 

 
Revision History 

 
Revision 
Date 

Revision by Previous 
Version 

Description of Revision 

11/11/16 OSC Task & Finish 
Group 

Draft 
Version 1 

 

01/08/19 Cliff Walker Draft 
Version 3 

In accordance with IPCO recommendations  

17/11/21 OSC Task & Finish 
Group 

Draft 
Version 4 

 

 
Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals: 

Version Approved by Date 

V 4.0 Executive  

V 4.0 Full Council  

MIS   

Policy Officer Peta Leigh  

Communications Samantha Down  

 
Document Distribution 
This Policy will be posted on the Copeland Borough Council website and internal intranet site, 
it will also be included in induction pack issued to new councillors, employees, consultants, 
contractors and volunteers. 
 
Contributors 
Development of this policy was assisted through information provided by the following Departments 
and external organisations: - 
 

 Copeland Management Information Systems (MIS) 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Social Media Task and Finish Group 
 

 
 

Page 18



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 3 of 25 

 
 
 
 

Contents           
 

1. Purpose………………………………………………………………………………………………...............4 
2. Introduction…………………………………………………………………………………………………. ….5 
3. Scope…………………………………………………………………………………………………………...……5 
4. Definitions………………………………………………………………………………………………………...6 
5. Policy Details………………………………………………………………………………………………….….6 
6. Roles and Responsibilities……………………………………………………………………………….…8 
7. Policy Monitoring………………………………………………………………………………………………9 
8. References…………………………………………………………………………………………………………9 
9. Appendices: - 

 
Appendix A - lists of guiding principles and actions that all councillors and  
employees must follow to ensure the acceptable use of social media sites…….11 
 
Appendix B – Guidance on capturing Social Media Posts…………………………………15 
 
Appendix C – Guidance for Councillors on Blogging and Similar Content..……….16 
 
Appendix D – Members Code of Conduct…………………………………………………………18 

 
 

 
  

Page 19



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 4 of 25 

 

1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this document is to define the acceptable use of social media sites by 
councillors and staff when representing Copeland Borough Council (the Council) in the public 
domain. 
 
The policy is intended to ensure that social media is used in a way that is positive, effective and 
lawful; and does not compromise the Council’s business, reputation, information or computer 
systems and networks. 
 
Social media sites must be utilised responsibly and with respect for the law, the professional 
reputation of the Council, and the personal impact it can have on the individuals there-in.  
 
All Copeland Borough Council councillors and employees are expected to follow this policy and 
guidance. 
 
The following risks to the Council have been identified in relation to the use of social media 
(this is not an exhaustive list): 
 

 Breach of the code of conduct for members through inappropriate use. 

 Virus or other malware (malicious software) infection from infected sites. 

 Disclosure of confidential information. 

 Damage to the Council’s reputation. 

 Social engineering attacks (also known as ‘phishing’). 

 Bullying or witch-hunting. 

 Civil or criminal action relating to breaches of legislation. 

 Breach of safeguarding using images or personal details leading to the exploitation of 
vulnerable individuals. 

 
Considering these risks, the use of social media sites should be regulated to ensure that such 
use does not damage the Council, its employees, councillors, partners and the people it serves. 

 
This policy aims to ensure: 

 A consistent and corporate approach is adopted and maintained in the acceptable use 
of social media. 

 Council information remains secure and is not compromised by social media. 

 Users understand and operate within existing policies, guidelines and relevant 
legislation. 

 The Council’s reputation is not damaged or adversely affected. 
 

This document provides guidance on: 

 The acceptable use of social media. 

 The effective management of social media usage.  

 How to minimise or mitigate the risks and pitfalls associated with social media usage. 
 

Page 20



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 5 of 25 

2. Introduction 
 
Copeland Borough Council like many other local authorities and public sector agencies is  
increasingly looking to social media to engage with a wider audience and provide a two way  
dialogue with the public. 
 
Social media is a rapidly expanding form of communication and encompasses all sorts 
of internet sites, with the most popular probably being Facebook and Twitter. Such  
sites are no longer just the domain of young people and they offer great potential, if 
used right, to reach a wide cross section of the population.  
 
The biggest difference between traditional forms of communication such as  
newspapers, radio & television and social media sites, is that with social media it is the user  
who is generating the content. This means they require a different approach and are not as  
easily controlled. 
 
Benefits that social media can bring for Copeland Borough Council 
As a Council, we have a mandate to be open and transparent in all we do. This means we need 
to find ways to communicate effectively with our residents, whatever their age, background, 
levels of literacy etc. New technology and social media gives us increasingly more ways of 
doing this.  
 

Given the nature of sites such as Facebook we also have a greater chance of  
stimulating debate and receiving feedback on our services. Such sites are a good way of 
monitoring customer satisfaction.  
 

It allows us an additional value-for-money way of consulting with residents (in addition to the 
informal dialogue that it provides). We can target our message, link to questionnaires and 
repeatedly push people to respond. 
 
Social media is a very swift way to communicate when necessary, for example in emergencies 
or when a message needs to be spread quickly. A message can be posted immediately and 
people asked to share. 
 
We need to embrace social media but we also need some clear guidelines on how we promote 
ourselves on there and how we regulate staff contributions. 
 
 

3. Scope 
 
This document applies to all Councillors, Committees, Departments, Partners, Employees of 
the Council, contractual third parties and agents of the Council, when representing Copeland 
Borough Council; all of which will be referred to as councillors and employees hereinafter. 
  
The policy advocates the acceptable usage and conduct of all councillors and employees when 
participating in any social media site, whether listed here or not, to represent Copeland 
Borough Council in the public domain. 

Page 21



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 6 of 25 

 
Copeland Borough Council may choose to use any social media site to publish the  
views of the Council, information and news. This policy applies to any social media site  
deemed fit for purpose to represent the views, news and information provided by the  
Council and published in the public domain. 
 
 

4. Definitions 
 

The definition of Social Media site in relation to this policy is: 
 
Any site or service on the internet where content may be created or published and  
adapted by people who use the sites and tools and which allows a two-way  
conversation. 
 
Examples of Social Media sites and tools include: 
 

• Facebook 
• TikTok 
• Twitter 
• Blogs 
• YouTube 
• Instagram 
• Snapchat 

 

• Flickr 
• Wikis  
• Wikipedia 
• LinkedIn 
• DeA Communities 
• Discussion Forums 

 

 
This is not an exhaustive list and only gives examples of sites. It includes any sites  
which may emerge after the creation of this policy where Copeland Borough Council  
could be represented via online participation. 
 
 

5. Policy Details 
 
When representing the Council, all councillors and employees should use social media in a way 
that is positive, respectful and lawful;  
All councillors and employees are expected to follow the guidelines set out in this policy. 
 
Personal responsibility 
Councillors and employees are personally responsible for the content that they publish on any 
form of social media.  
Publishing or allowing to be published (in the form of a comment) an untrue statement about a 
person which is damaging to their reputation may incur a libel action. 
 
Social media sites are in the public domain and it is important to ensure you are confident of 
the nature of the information you publish. Once published, content is almost impossible to 
control and may be manipulated without your consent, used in different contexts, or further 
distributed.   

Page 22



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 7 of 25 

Appendix A lists an extended set of guiding principles and actions that all councillors and 
employees must follow to ensure the acceptable use of social media sites. 
 
 
Conduct 
Many Copeland Borough Council employees and councillors are probably already using sites 
such as Facebook in their own time. This is fine but we still need to ensure that any reference 
to the Council is positive and helpful. 
 
Councillors & Employees 
 
Anyone receiving threats, abuse or harassment via their use of social media should report it to 
the police.  If a threat, abuse or harassment is made by a Councillor, the matter may be 
referred to the Monitoring Officer under the Code of Conduct.  If a threat, abuse or 
harassment is made by an employee, the matter may be referred to the relevant Line Manger 
or Director under the Employees Code of Conduct. 
Guidance on capturing Social Media Posts is included at Appendix B. 
 
Other violations of this policy, such as breaching the Data Protection Act, could lead to criminal 
or civil action being taken against the Council or the individual(s) involved. 
 
Employees 
 
The Council reserves the right to request the removal of any content that is deemed to be in 
breach of the Code of Conduct for members or Employees Code of Conduct. 
 
Employees are reminded that in respect of social media, they are governed by the Employees 
Code of Conduct and relevant law.  
 
Breaches of this policy may amount to a breach of the Employees code of conduct, and failure 
to comply with this policy could result in disciplinary action being taken. 
Employees should direct concerns or complaint to their line manager. 
 
Councillors 
 
Councillors are reminded that in respect of social media, they are governed by the Code of 
Conduct for members and relevant law.  
 
Breaches of this policy may amount to a breach of the Council’s code of conduct for members 
and failure to comply with this policy could result in action being taken in accordance with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 
A formal complaint may be made to the Monitoring Officer, who will review the complaint, 
consult with the Independent Person, and then give their decision on how the complaint will 
be dealt with. 
 

Page 23



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 8 of 25 

Care should particularly be taken in respect of Councillor Facebook pages and Ward Facebook 
pages. Here a Councillor could easily be assumed to be acting as a Councillor for the purposes 
of the Code of Conduct or that the page is associated with, or under the control of the Council. 
Councillors and officers entering posts on such pages must ensure that the post is not 
disrespectful to any person and that they do not bring the office of councillor or the Council 
itself into disrepute. Such posts will be a breach of the code of conduct. 
 
Aspects of the Members’ Code of Conduct will apply to blogs. Members should comply with 
the general principles of the Code in what they publish (and what they allow others to publish). 
 
Guidance for Councillors on Blogging and Similar Content is included at Appendix C. 
 
The following guidance is not exhaustive and if you have any queries you should contact the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
Risks 
Copeland Borough Council recognises that there are risks associated with the use of social 
media sites and around the provision of on- line directed surveillance and the authorisation, 
use and conduct of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS) as defined by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000. 
 

This policy aims to mitigate the following risks: 
 

 Unauthorised access to PROTECTED and RESTRICTED information. 

 Unauthorised introduction of malicious software and viruses. 

 Potential sanctions against the Council or individuals imposed by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office as a result of information loss or misuse. 

 Potential legal action against the Council or individuals as a result of information 
loss or misuse. 

 Council reputational damage as a result of information loss or misuse. 

 Risks associated with ‘on-line’ directed surveillance 

 Risk associated with the authorisation and use of CHIS 
 
Non-compliance with this policy could have a significant effect on the efficient operation of the 
Council and may result in financial loss and an inability to provide necessary services to our 
customers. 
 
Guidance around surveillance and the use and conduct of Covert Human Intelligence Sources 
may be found in the Office of Surveillance Commissioners Procedures and Guidance via the 
following link:  
 
https://www.ipco.org.uk/docs/OSC%20PROCEDURES%20AND%20GUIDANCE.pdf 
 
and within the Copeland Borough Council RIPA policy: 
 
http://ntintranet/sites/default/files/attachments/ripa_policy.doc  
 

Page 24

https://www.ipco.org.uk/docs/OSC%20PROCEDURES%20AND%20GUIDANCE.pdf
http://ntintranet/sites/default/files/attachments/ripa_policy.doc


Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 9 of 25 

The key thing to remember when publishing anything, in particular to social media sites, is 
that once you press ‘send’ it is there for all the world to see. What might seem appropriate 
or humorous in the heat of the moment could backfire in the long term. Before publishing it 
is important to stop and think about the consequences of what you are saying. 
 
 
 

6. Roles and Responsibilities 
 

 Elected Mayor and elected members – Must carry out their representations and duties 
in line with this policy and guidance. 

 All Employees - Must carry out their representations and duties in line with this policy 
and guidance.  

 ICT Officers – Provision of equipment and facilities only.  ICT Policies. 

 Communications Officers – Manage the Councils Social Media sites.  
 
 
The following table identifies who within Copeland Borough Council is Accountable, 
Responsible, Informed or Consulted with regards this policy.   
 
 

Responsible - for the creation and update of this policy MIS Manager. 

Accountable - the person who has ultimate accountability 
and authority for this policy 

Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy 

Consulted - the person(s) or groups to be consulted prior to 
final amendment and sign off 

Communications, Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

Informed - the person(s) or groups to be informed of this 
policy 

Councillors, Committees, 
Departments, Partners, 
Employees of the Council, 
contractual third parties and 
agents of the Council. 

 
 

7. Policy Monitoring 
The policy will be reviewed and updated every two years, or as and when updates to 
legislation require.  
 
Incidents/complaints of a social media nature involving members, will be reported to the 
Standards and Ethics Committee on a regular basis, in the normal way. 

 
Complaints against staff will be dealt with using existing disciplinary procedures. 

 
 

Page 25



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 10 of 25 

 
 

8.  References 
 
The following Copeland Borough Council policy documents are directly linked to this policy, 
and maybe referenced in relation to this policy: 

 

 Email Acceptable Use Policy. 

 Internet Acceptable Use Policy. 

 Software Policy. 

 Government Connect Secure Extranet (GCSx) Acceptable Usage Policy and Personal 
Commitment Statement. 

 Legal Responsibilities Policy. 

 Code of Conduct for Members 

 Employees Code of Conduct 

 RIPA (Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act) Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 26



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 11 of 25 

 
 

Appendix A 
 

Guiding principles and actions for the use of social media sites. 
This policy must be applied whenever Councillors, Committees, Departments, Partners, 
Employees of the Council, contractual third parties and agents of the Council use social media 
websites to represent the Council in the public domain. 
 
 
Principles 
General principles for using social media 
Councillors and employees are should follow these five guiding principles for any social media 
activities: 
 

 Be respectful 
At all times, be polite, open, respectful, cordial, honest and professional. 

 

 Be credible and consistent 
Make sure you are accurate, fair, thorough and transparent. 

   

 Be honest about who you are 
It is important that any account or profile you set up is clearly and easily 
identifiable. 

 

 Be responsive 
Respond to questions and comments in a timely manner. 

 

 Be confident 
Don’t fear participating.  
Feel confident in what you say before you say it – and say it as clearly as you can. 

 
Actions 

1. Make use of stringent privacy settings if you don’t want your social media to be 
accessed and make sure you understand their confidentiality/privacy settings. 

 
2. Do not disclose personal details such as home addresses and telephone numbers. 

Ensure that you handle any personal or sensitive information in line with the 
Council’s Data Protection Policy. 

 
3. Do not publish or report on meetings which are private or internal (where no 

members of the public are present or it is of a confidential nature) or are Part 2 
reports (which contain confidential information or matters which are exempt under 
the provision of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985). Use of 
social media in meetings must comply with the protocol for the use of hand held 
electronic devices during any meeting held under the auspices of the Council. 

 

Page 27



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 12 of 25 

4. Do not make any social media posts during a live meeting. This will help ensure that 
there are no posts made while debates are still ongoing, decisions have not been 
made and evidence/information is still being gathered.  

 
5. Copyright laws still apply online. Placing images or text from a copyrighted source 

(e.g. extracts from publications or photos) without permission is likely to breach 
copyright. Avoid publishing anything you are unsure about or seek permission from 
the copyright holder in advance. 

 
6. Do not send or post inappropriate, abusive, bullying, racist or defamatory messages 

to members of the public, other councillors or officers either in or outside the work 
environment. 

 
7. During the pre-election period (purdah) extra care must be taken and detailed 

guidance will be provided at that time. 
 

8. In any personal profile of an account used in their capacity as a Councillor, it should 
be clearly stated that the views are those of the Councillor in question and may not 
represent the views of the Council. 

 
9. Do not use the Council’s logo, or any other council related material on a personal 

account or website.  
 

10. Social media must not be used for actions that would put councillors in breach of 
the Council’s Code of Conduct. For example, don’t publish on social media 
something you would not say face to face, or at a public meeting. 

 
11. Be aware of your own safety when placing information on the internet and do not 

publish information which could leave you vulnerable. This includes your personal 
contact information; use council issued mobile numbers and email addresses for 
residents to be able to contact you as a safer practice. Do not publicise your 
personal mobile number. 

 
12. Anyone receiving threats, abuse or harassment via their use of social media should 

report it to the police and if the threat, abuse or harassment is made by another 
Councillor, the matter may be referred to the Monitoring Officer under the Code of 
Conduct. 

 
13. It is recommended that in the case of Facebook, councillors wishing to keep their 

personal life and role as a councillor separate create a Facebook page which 
members of the public can ‘like’ rather than using their personal profiles. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 13 of 25 

Further good practice 
 

 It is your responsibility to maintain your page  
If you develop a presence on a site then it is your personal responsibility to keep it 
up-to-date and meaningful. Nothing is more likely to alienate contributors than posts 
that go unanswered or finding material is old and no longer relevant 

 

 Importance of sticking to area of expertise 
If you are blogging or contributing to a site, it is important that you declare an 
interest and stick to your area of expertise. Do not get drawn into commenting on 
things you have no knowledge of or do not have the responsibility to discuss. 

 

 Posting meaningful comments 
Post meaningful, respectful comments. If you disagree with someone remain polite.  

  

 Be yourself i.e. let personality shine through 
We can often be criticised for being dull in the way we communicate so this is one 
time when you can be more engaging.  

 
 

 Admit mistakes 
If you do get something wrong in a post to a website then be sure to admit it and 
retract it as soon as possible. Do not hide behind anonymity. It is best to be open and 
honest at all times.  
 

Information and comments published on social media sites: 

 Stay in the public domain for a long time 

 Can be republished on other websites 

 Can be copied, used and/or amended by others  

 Could be changed to misrepresent what was originally stated 

 Can attract comments and interest from other people, organisations and the media 
 

Remember you are representing the Council 

 Never give out details of dealings with colleagues without prior permission 

 Never give out details about customers, partners or 3rd parties without their prior 
consent 

 If in doubt check with your manager if you are not sure what is or isn’t confidential  

 Never make offensive comments about any member of staff, customer, supplier or 
partner of the Council 

 Do not use ethnic slurs 

 Do not publish personal insults 

 Do not use obscenities  
 
Do not pick fights, be the first to correct your mistakes and do not alter previous posts without 
indication you have done so. 
 

Page 29



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 14 of 25 

Don’t be afraid to be yourself, but be considerate about other people’s view, especially around 
“controversial” topics such as religion or politics. 
You can challenge views without being abusive. 
 
If the media contact you about something you have published online always take their contact 
details, arrange to call them back and seek advice from the Communications department  

 
 
  

Page 30



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 15 of 25 

Appendix B 
 
Guidance on capturing social media posts 
 
Posts made using third party sites such as Facebook or Twitter are not held, or within the 
control of the Council – posts can be deleted by site administrators without knowledge or 
consent of the Council. In exceptional circumstances, copies of posts may be made and 
retained by the Council (e.g. as evidence of inappropriate posts). 
 

Where inappropriate use is suspected, it is suggested that you should pro-actively attempt to 
capture any inappropriate posts (before they might be deleted). Copies should be made (press, 
‘alt + Print screen,’ and copy into MS Word) and reported to both the relevant authority within 
the Council, as well as following the social media sites own reporting procedures where 
appropriate. Please note that this is just one means of gathering evidence of inappropriate use; 
it does not preclude the gathering of other types of evidence, e.g. witness statements.   
 
 
 
The following ‘How To’ guide has been created with IT to help improve this practice. 
 
  

Page 31



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 16 of 25 

Please find below a ‘How To’ guide on how to take screenshots of social media 
posts and attach them to emails for council issued laptops and iPads. The 
methods discussed below can be used for any social media platform, it is only the 
type of equipment being used that changes how to take a screenshot. 
Please note that this process may be different on personal quipment. 
 
Laptops 
There are two ways that you can take a screenshot on a laptop, either by using 
the keyboard shortcut (Windows Key + Shift + S) or you can use the start menu 
and search for the snipping tool. 

 
 
To save a snip, you first take the snip of what you want – open up the app and 
click on ‘new’ 

 
This will grey out the screen until you highlight the section that you would like to 
screenshot. Next, you should receive a notification should appear in the bottom 
left. You can either click that pop-up or click into the notifications tab (very 

Page 32



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 17 of 25 

bottom right), click the notification in there, which will open the full snipping tool 
app.  

 
Within the app, you will receive the option to alter the image as well as save it, 
the save option is highlighted in the red circle.  
 
You are able to save screenshots to wherever you believe best, but make sure 
that you remember where. Once the screenshot has been saved, it can be 
attached to email using the ‘attach file’ function highlighted in the red circle 
below. 

 
Attaching a screenshot this way is similar to attaching a word document. 
 

Page 33



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 18 of 25 

iPads 
All you need to do is press the power button and home button at the same time 
(just for half a second, don't hold it) and it'll save the full screen directly to the 
gallery. This can then be attached to an email on you iPad. The image below 
highlights where the power button (top) and home button (bottom) are on the 
iPad.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To take screenshots on council issued phones, please use the same process as 
iPads above. 
 
  

Page 34



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 19 of 25 

Appendix C 
 
Guidance for Councillors on Blogging and Similar Content 
 
Members who wish to blog or create similar content need to be particularly aware of the 
following provisions: 
 

1. Treat others with respect. Avoid personal attacks and disrespectful or rude or 
offensive comments. 

 
2. Comply with equality laws. Avoid publishing anything that might be considered 

sexist, racist, ageist, homophobic or anti-faith. 
 

3. Refrain from publishing anything you have received in confidence. 
 

4. Ensure you don’t bring the Council, or your Councillor role, into disrepute. 
 
Additional legal guidance for members who have chosen to set up and run their own 
personal blogs or produce similar content.  
There is clear distinction between member information published by Copeland Borough 
Council, such as the member pages on the Council’s website, and member posts which are the 
sole responsibility of the individual member. 
 
There are important reasons for this distinction.  
 
Material published by the Authority is, for obvious reasons, restricted in terms of content. It 
must not contain party political material and, in relation to other material, should not 
persuade the public to a particular view, promote the personal image of a particular Councillor, 
promote an individual Councillor’s proposals, decisions or recommendations, or personalise 
issues. Nor should the Council assist in the publication of any material that does any of the 
above. 
Nonetheless the Council takes the view that member blogs and similar content can make a 
positive contribution to improving community engagement and leadership. 
The following is a brief guide to some of the legal pitfalls for members in establishing their own 
personal blogs or creating similar content.  
Almost all of these can be avoided if the content of your blog/post is objective, balanced, 
informative and accurate. 

 
Libel 
If you publish an untrue statement about a person which is damaging to their reputation they 
may take a libel action against you. This will also apply if you allow someone else to publish 
something libellous on your website if you know about it and don’t take prompt action to 
remove it. A successful libel claim against you could result in an award of damages against you. 

 
 Copyright 
Placing images or text on your site from a copyrighted source (e.g. extracts from publications, 
photos etc.) without permission is likely to breach copyright. 

Page 35



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 20 of 25 

 
Avoid publishing anything you are unsure about or seek permission in advance.  
Breach of copyright may result in an award of damages against you. 
 
 Data Protection 
Avoid publishing the personal data of individuals unless you have their express written 
permission. 
 
 Bias and Pre-determination 
If you are involved in determining planning or licensing application or other quasi-judicial 
decisions, extreme care should be taken to avoid publishing anything on your blog/social 
media that might suggest you don’t have an open mind about a matter you may be involved in 
determining. If not, the decision runs the risk of being invalidated. 
 
 Obscene material 
It goes without saying that you should avoid publishing anything in your blog/posts that people 
would consider obscene. 
Publication of obscene material is a criminal offence. 
 
This guidance is aimed at giving a general overview of the legal issues to be aware of in 
publishing your own blog or similar content.  
Further explanation can be obtained from the Legal Services Manager but Councillors should 
be aware that the content of their blogs/social media is their own responsibility. If the content 
is objective, balanced, informative and accurate, and you maintain and demonstrate an open 
mind on any matters on which you may be called upon as a member to make a decision, you 
substantially reduce the possibility of a successful legal challenge to the content being made. 
  

Page 36



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 21 of 25 

          Appendix D 

 

CODE OF CONDUCT (adopted 30 June 2012) 

 

1. For members and co-opted members of the authority 

 

a) The Copeland Borough Council (“The Authority”) has adopted the following code 

dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members of 

the Authority (“Members”) when they are acting in that capacity as required by 

section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”). 

 

b) The Authority has a statutory duty under the Act to promote and maintain high 

standards of conduct by Members and the Code sets out the standards that the 

Authority expects Members to observe. 

 
c) The Code is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the obligations that are 

placed on Members.  It is the responsibility of individual Members to comply with 

the provisions of the Code as well as such other legal obligations as may apply to 

them from time to time. Failure to do so may result in a sanction being applied by 

the Authority.  Failure to take appropriate action in respect of a Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interest may result in a criminal conviction and a fine of up to £5,000 

and/or disqualification from office for a period of up to 5 years.   

 
d) The code is intended to be consistent with the seven principles as attached to this 

code 

and applies whenever a person is acting in his/her capacity as a Member of the 

Authority or co-opted member in the conduct of the Authority’s business or acting 

as a representative of the Authority. 

 
e) When acting in your capacity as a Member   

 
(1) You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer 

an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other 

material benefits for yourself, your family, a friend, a close associate, an 

employer or a business carried on by you. 

 

(2) You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that may influence you in the performance of 

your official duties.  

 
(3) You must not disclose any information given to you as a Member in breach 

of any confidence. 

 
(4) You must not bring your office or your Authority into disrepute. 

 

Page 37



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 22 of 25 

(5) You must treat others with respect and promote equality by not 

discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with 

respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, gender, sexual 

orientation or disability.  You should respect the impartiality and integrity of 

the authority’s statutory officers and its other employees.  

 
(6) When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as 

making public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending 

individuals for rewards or benefits on merit. 

 
(7) You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-

operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 

 
(8) You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the 

decisions and actions of your authority and should be prepared to give 

reasons for those decisions and actions. 

 
(9) You must declare any private interests, both disclosable pecuniary interests 

and any other registrable interests, that relate to your public duties and 

must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the 

public interest, including registering and declaring interests in a manner 

which conforms with the procedures set out below. 

 
(10) You must ensure, when using or authorising the use by others of the 

resources of your authority, that such resources are not used improperly for 

political purposes (including party political purposes) and you must have 

regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the 

Local Government Act 1986. 

 

(11) You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in 

your office. 

 

2  Registering and declaring disclosable pecuniary and other registrable interests 

 

a. You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, notify 

your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest as defined 

by regulations made by the Secretary of State, where the pecuniary interest is yours, 

your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom 

you are living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners. 

 

b. In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, 

notify your authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary or non-pecuniary 

interest which your authority has decided should be included in the register. These 

include: 

 

Page 38



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 23 of 25 

(i) Details of any body of which the Councillor is a member or in a position of general 

control or management and to which the member is appointed or nominated by the 

Council; 

 

(ii) Details of any body of which the Councillor is a member or in a position of general 

control or management and which –  

 

 (1)  exercises functions of a public nature, 

 

 (2)  is directed to charitable purposes or 

 

(3)  is a body which includes as one of its principal purposes influencing public        

opinion or policy (this includes political parties or trade unions); 

 

(iii) Details of any persons from whom a Councillor has received gifts or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £50 received by the Councillor personally in connection with 

his/her duties. 

 

c. If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the member 

must disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which they are present, 

where they have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and where 

the matter is not a ‘sensitive interest' as described by the Localism Act 2011. 

 

d. Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or the subject 

of pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest within 

28 days beginning with the date of disclosure. 

 

e. Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion of, 

vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a 

pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State.  

Additionally, you must observe the restrictions your authority places on your 

involvement in matters where you have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as 

defined by your authority.      

 
3  Seven general principles of conduct 
 

a) Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. They should 

not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 

family, or their friends.   

 

b) Integrity 

Page 39



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 24 of 25 

Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other 

obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in 

the performance of their official duties. 

 

c) Objectivity 

In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding 

contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits, holders of public 

office should make choices on merit. 

 

d) Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public 

and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.  

 

e) Openness 

Holders of public office should be as open as possible about the decisions and actions 

that they take.  They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information 

only when the wider public interest clearly demands 

 

f) Honesty 

Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their 

public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects 

the public interest 

 

g) Leadership 

Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by leadership 

and by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves public confidence. 

 

4  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (as defined by regulations) 

a)    Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or 
gain.  

b) Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election 
expenses of M. (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within 
the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 

c) Details of any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority –  

(i) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and  

Page 40



Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy V4  
 

Page 25 of 25 

(ii) which has not been fully discharged.  

d) Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority.   
 

e) Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
relevant authority for a month or longer.   
 

f) Details of any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge) –  

(i) The landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(ii) The tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

g) Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where 

(i) That body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
relevant authority; and 

(ii) Either –  

(1) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

(2) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that class.  

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
REPORT FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUP – EFFECTIVE DIGITAL ENGAGEMENT  

 
LEAD MEMBER: Councillor Russell Studholme, Chair of the Effective 

Digital Engagement Task & Finish Group    
 
LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and 

Commercial Strategy 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Rose Blaney, Scrutiny Officer   
 
             
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Overview & Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 
 

1) Accept the recommendations made in Section 5 of this report  
2) Forward the recommendations to the Executive 

 
 

  

  
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report has been prepared to provide Members with an update of the 

Effective Digital Engagement Task and Finish Group. 

 

1.2 In 2019, an internal audit review brought about a recommendation to help 

improve the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s (OSC) interaction with the 

public via digital engagement.  It was recommended that the best way to 

complete the audit recommendation was to create a Task & Finish Group. 

 

1.3 Due to Covid-19, no progress was made in 2020 and the recommendation 

was extended until Jan 2022.  

 
 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

2. BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 In 2019, an internal audit produced the following recommendation (using 
the internal code ARC&CS_075): 

 
Effective digital engagement strategies should be considered to promote 
the profile and role of scrutiny within the wider public and to encourage the 
public’s participation. 
 

 
2.2 The Audit recommendations were considered and noted by the OSC 

Committee in November 2019, and it was agreed that a Task & Finish group 
would be established to undertake this piece of work. 

 
2.3 No further progress was made in 2020, due to Covid-19.  A twelve months 

extension was granted to allow sufficient time to undertake the work, with 
a new completion date of January 2022. 
 

2.4 The Task & Finish Group was established in September 2021 and consisted 

of Councillors Russell Studholme, Jeanette Forster and Gwynneth Everett.   

 
2.5 The group met five times and have now completed their work. 

 
 
3. SCOPE 

 
3.1 The Task & Finish Group agreed three key objectives: 

1) To review the current method of digital engagement for OSC. 
2) To create a web page on the Copeland Borough Council (CBC) 

website, specifically for OSC issues and contact information to help 
members of the public interact with the Committee. 

3) To create a toolkit to provide further in-depth information on how 
OSC works and how best to engage with OSC. 
 

3.2 The group focused on the digital aspects of engagement with the public, 
but, noted that there may be some scope for a further review once the web 
page is up and running on how to engage with the public outside of the 
digital realm. 

 

Page 44



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

3.3 The group agreed to work with the Communications Team, who are 
responsible for the content on the CBC website, to create the most 
effective web page.  

 
3.4 The group noted that the web page would need to be kept under review 

and updated as necessary in order to remain interactive, which will help 
with further engagement with the public. 

 
3.5 The group also wanted to ensure that the information included within the 

web page and toolkit was up to date, accurate and easy to understand. 
 
 
 

4. Review 
 
4.1 The review began by creating the scope, with the group wanting to be able 

to answer five key questions: 
1) What needs to be included within the website information? 
2) What needs to be included within the toolkit? 
3) What constitutes as ‘effective’ digital engagement? 
4) Does the content created help Overview and Scrutiny to engage 

with the public more effectively? 
5) Is there enough information available for members of the public 

to understand how they can engage with Overview and Scrutiny? 
 

4.2 Once the scope was agreed, the group began to analyse the draft website 
page information created by the Scrutiny Officer as a template. 

 
4.3 The group met in person to review the draft toolkit in further depth than 

was possible via a virtual meeting. 
 
4.4 The Communications and Engagement Manager was consulted on how best 

to create the web page and how to keep it up to date and as interactive as 
the group had wanted to be. 

 
4.5 Following the conversations with the Communications and Engagement 

Manager, it was suggested that the Scrutiny Officer be trained on how to 
edit the website to give greater control over the contents of the web page. 

 
4.6 A full list of the proposed recommendations can be found in paragraph 5.1 

below. 

Page 45



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 As mentioned above, the group created recommendations for Overview 

and Scrutiny to consider and then, subject to OSC’s agreement, forward 
onto the Executive. The recommendations are: 

a) To create a web page on the CBC website specifically for OSC, 
using the information in Appendix A, to help OSC engage more 
effectively with the public. 

b) To have as attachments on the web page: 

 OSC Toolkit 

 Call-In and Call for Action information 
c) To have the Scrutiny Officer trained by the Communications 

Team to be the administrator for the OSC web page. 
d) To have a brief review of the information available on the 

website every six months to ensure content is up to date. 
e) To work with the Communications Team and use their 

expertise to ensure that the wording used is beneficial towards 
effective digital engagement. 
 

5.2 The group also wanted to have it noted that the website page was for brief 
information to encourage engagement and that the toolkit was to provide 
further, more in-depth information on OSC. 

 
 
 
6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 In conclusion, the Task & Finish group noted that by creating an OSC web 

page would enable them to have more effective engagement with the 
public. 

 
6.2 The group noted that providing too much information on the website 

would not help with engagement, but rather may create further 
disengagement, so a toolkit was created to allow for a place to have more 
in-depth information should it be required. 

 
6.3 That through the recommendations, effective digital engagement may be 

achieved, and the audit recommendation may be completed. 
 

Page 46



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Appendices: A. OSC Web Page Information 
 B. OSC Toolkit 

 
Background Documents: 2019 Audit Recommendation 
    Links under section 8 of Appendix A 

  

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Overview and scrutiny is an important part of local government and is at the 

heart of a councillor's role as an elected representative. In this section you will 

find details about the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and their work, 

including the current Task & Finish Groups, and find out how you can become 

involved. 

 

Scrutiny Aims 

The aim of Overview and Scrutiny is to make decision-making processes more 

transparent, accountable, and inclusive and to improve services for people by 

being responsive to their needs. For scrutiny to be effective, the process must 

be open, fair, constructive, and positive. The aim is to challenge decisions so 

improvements can be made, not to apportion blame when things go wrong. 

The scrutiny process should be inclusive and should aim to ensure that all 

those who wish to contribute - whether as councillors, officers, co-optees, 

specialists or members of the public giving evidence - feel valued and are able 

to speak freely and openly. 

Overall, Overview and Scrutiny is about making a difference and improving the 

lives of the people who live and work in Copeland. 

 

Scrutiny FAQs 

1. How does Overview and Scrutiny work? 

In Copeland, there is only one Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

The Committee is made up of 11 non-executive members appointed to reflect 
the political make-up of the Council.  The Committee meet up every month 
and these meetings are open to the public. 

APPENDIX A 

Page 49



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

The Committee also work in more informal ways, for example by holding 

workshops, going on site visits or looking at a topic in-depth by a small group 

of Members (sometimes called a Scrutiny Review but most commonly referred 

to in Copeland as a Task & Finish Group).  The Committee also have an 

informal meeting once a month to discuss issues ahead of the next meeting. 

The Committee set their own work programme and produce an annual report 

on their activities.  

 

2. How can you get involved? 

There are several ways that you can get involved in the work of Overview and 
Scrutiny.  

You could: 

 Attend a meeting 

 Suggest a topic for a Task & Finish Group 

 Submit evidence to a Task & Finish Group 

 
Attend a meeting 
Members of the public are welcome to attend Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meetings to hear evidence and the discussions of Committee 
Members.  

Suggest a topic for a scrutiny review 
If you are concerned about an issue which is not being discussed by the Council 
or you have an idea for a detailed piece of work, please 
email scrutiny@copeland.gov.uk with the details of the idea and what you 
would like to see the achieved from this piece of work.  
 
Submit evidence to a Task & Finish Group 
You may be involved in the scrutiny process by giving evidence to the 
Committee or a Task and Finish Group on a particular issue.  You may also be 
involved in a survey or public consultation event. 

In all these cases, please contact us and we will talk to the Chair of the relevant 
Committee or Group. 

 

 

Page 50

mailto:scrutiny@copeland.gov.uk


 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

3. Scrutiny – Who to Contact 

You can contact the Scrutiny Officer by 

 E-mail:  scrutiny@copeland.gov.uk 

 Telephone: 01946 598454 

 By post: 
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) 
Electoral and Democratic Services 
Copeland Borough Council 
Market Hall, Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 

 

4. Subject Reviews 

Subject reviews provide the opportunity to carry out in depth analysis of 
particularly challenging or problematic issues affecting the Council and the 
community.  This work is usually carried out by a small group of Members who 
are referred to as a Task and Finish Group. 

By its nature, a subject review will entail a good deal of work which can last 
several months.  The Task and Finish Group can employ different ways of 
working to learn about a subject.  For example, they can go on site visits, carry 
out mystery shopping and hold informal meetings.  Often the main meetings in 
a subject review are “evidence sessions” – in these the Task & Finish Group will 
ask detailed questions of expert witnesses who they have invited specially.  

At the end of the subject review, the Task and Finish Group will produce a 
report detailing their findings and will usually make several 
recommendations.  These recommendations are presented to the Council’s 
Executive and any other agencies affected.  Actions on the recommendations 
are monitored by the scrutiny committee to see it they have been put into 
practice and what improvements in service have been achieved. 

Completed Subject Reviews 
Please contact the Scrutiny Officer for the final reports of subject reviews: 

 Recycling (2017 & 2021) 

 Accessible Information Policy 

 Cemetery Management 

 Child Poverty 

Page 51

mailto:scrutiny@copeland.gov.uk


 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 Voluntary Living Wage 

 Unacceptable Behaviour Policy 

 Paperless 

 Town Vision and Spatial Framework 

 

 

5. Current Task & Finish Groups 

There are a number of Task & Finish Groups that have been set up for 2021/22 

that have either just started, are about to start, or will be starting later in the 

year. These are: 

 Health & Wellbeing North Copeland 

 Health & Wellbeing South Copeland 

 Social Media Policy Review 

 Effective Digital Engagement 

 Housing 

There are also two working groups: 

 Budget Monitoring 

 Budget Development Analysis 

If you would like to provide any evidence to any of these Task & Finish Groups, 

would like to suggest a topic, or would like more information on the subjects 

being discussed, please contact the Scrutiny Officer using the contact 

information provided in Q3 above. 

 

6. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Agendas, Minutes and 

Reports 

Details of the Committee can be found here. 

Meeting Dates, Agendas, Minutes and Reports for the Committee can be found 

here. 

 

 

Page 52

https://copeland.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=131
https://copeland.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=131


 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

7. Executive Forward Plan & Decisions 

Details of the Executive Decisions can be found here. 

Details of the Executive Forward Plan can be found here. 

 

 

8. Useful Links 

Allerdale Borough Council – Overview and Scrutiny 

Carlisle City Council – Overview and Scrutiny 

Page 53

https://copeland.moderngov.co.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?XXR=0&&DR=12%2f10%2f2021-26%2f10%2f2021&ACT=Find&RP=0&K=0&V=0&DM=135C&HD=0&DS=2&Next=true&NOW=25102021123553&META=mgdelegateddecisions
https://copeland.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13308
https://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1277
https://www.carlisle.gov.uk/Council/Council-and-Democracy/About-the-Council/Scrutiny?QuestionID=349&AFMID=8233


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny  
TOOLKIT 

2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 55



1 
 

CONTENTS 

 

1          Foreword 

    Mission Statement 

 

2          Introduction to Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1  What is Overview and Scrutiny? 

2.2  The Work of Overview and Scrutiny 

2.3  The Political Management of the Council 

2.4  How Overview and Scrutiny operates at Copeland 

2.4.1  Call-In of Executive Decisions 

2.4.2  Call for Action 

2.4.3  How Overview and Scrutiny Work is Monitored 

2.4.4  What Overview and Scrutiny Does Not Do 

 

3          Overview and Scrutiny Roles 

3.1  Councillors 

3.2  Overview and Scrutiny Chair 

3.3 Training 

3.4 Portfolio Holder 

3.5 Public Participation 

3.6 Addressing the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

3.7  Employees of the Council 

 

4          The Annual Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 

 

Page 56



2 
 

5          Conducting an Overview and Scrutiny Review 

5.1  Scoping a Review 

5.2  Collecting the Information & Evidence 

5.3  Considering Witnesses 

5.4  Creating a Question Plan 

5.5  Assessing the Evidence and Making Recommendations 

5.6  Reporting 

5.7   Monitoring 

 

6          How to find out more about Overview and Scrutiny 

6.1  Contact and Further Information 

 

7          Links to Useful Information 

 

 

Appendices 

 

A      Review Scope Template 

B      Overview and Scrutiny Protocols 

C      Call-In & Call for Action Constitution procedure  

D      Questioning Techniques 

E       Glossary of Terms 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



3 
 

Foreword 

I am pleased to introduce Copeland Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Toolkit. The purpose of which is to provide information and guidance on the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny arrangements for Councillors, Officers, Co-
Opted Members, members of the public and others involved in the Scrutiny 
process. 
 
The aim of Overview and Scrutiny at Copeland is to improve public services and 
quality of life for local residents and provides a way for Councillors to examine, 
question and evaluate various functions of the Council and other providers of 
public services in an open and transparent way. 
 
This toolkit has been drawn from a variety of sources and includes many 
recommendations of best practice selected from leading authorities and 
organisations in the field of Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
For those already familiar with Overview and Scrutiny, this toolkit should serve 
as a useful reference tool for improving scrutiny skills to continue carrying out 
effective, engaging scrutiny that is focused on matters of importance to the  
residents of Copeland.  
 
Task and Finish Groups carry out in-depth reviews that focus on specific issues. 
As part of the review process, Overview and Scrutiny involves talking to 
residents and service users about their 
experiences. 
 
Members of the public, service users and partners 
are encouraged to become involved in Overview 
and Scrutiny at Copeland, either as addressing a 
meeting, an expert adviser or a co-opted member 
to a Task & Finish Group. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee welcomes 
suggestions and ideas to help to enhance the 
Scrutiny function at Copeland Borough Council. If 
you have a suggestion on how this guidance could 
be improved please contact the Scrutiny Officer: 
Email: scrutiny@copeland.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01946 598454 
 

Councillor John Kane 
Chair, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Page 58



4 
 

Our Mission Statement 
 
“Overview and Scrutiny at Copeland aims to enhance the quality of life of all 
who live and work in the Borough by ensuring services are delivered effectively 
and supporting improvement in the Council's services, policies and 
performance. Scrutiny aims to be objective, evidence-based, transparent and 
constructive, and to reflect the interests and concerns of local communities.” 
 
  

Page 59



5 
 

2 Introduction to Overview and Scrutiny 
 
This part of the Toolkit explains what Overview and Scrutiny is, its powers and 
work. 
 
“Overview and Scrutiny is potentially the most exciting and powerful element 
of the entire local government modernisation process. It places Members at 
the heart of the way in which Councils respond to the demands of 
modernisation. In addition, Overview and Scrutiny is the mechanism by which 
Councils can achieve community leadership, good governance and by which 
Councillors can become powerful and influential politicians.” 
 

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, 2002 
 

 

“An effective public scrutiny committee can be a powerful vehicle for change. 
It can improve the delivery of services; it can connect the public to decision 
makers and politicians; it can improve efficiency.”  
 

Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS), 2008 
 

 
2.1 What is Overview and Scrutiny? 
 
Overview and scrutiny played a major part in the reforms introduced in 2001 
under the Local Government Act 2000, intended to modernise the political 
management arrangements of local authorities.  
 
Since then, all councils in England and Wales are required to have at least one 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to enable non-executive Councillors to 
scrutinise the ‘cabinet’ set-up, which was introduced in 2001 and is referred to 
in Copeland as the Executive. Overview and Scrutiny is a key part of the 
arrangements for governance in local councils and is also an important 
mechanism for driving forward performance in services. Their key roles 
include: 
 
• investigating the decisions made and policies introduced  
 
• questioning how and why decisions are made  
 
• issuing reports and recommendations where shortcomings are identified  

Page 60



6 
 

 
An effective Overview and Scrutiny function can play a pivotal role in the 
shaping of future council policies.  
 
More recent passed legislation further enhanced the role and powers of 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, particularly in relation to the scrutiny of 
local health providers (see the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007).  
 
Under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 
2009, local authorities are required to designate an officer to promote 
Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny should be an a-political function that focuses on 
matters of real concern to local authority residents, challenging decision 
makers with evidence-based reviews to drive forward better performance and 
more effective policies.  
 
“The principal power of a scrutiny committee is to influence the policies and 
decisions made by the council and other organisations involved in delivering 
public services”  

Local Government Association, 2016  
 
Best practice for Overview and Scrutiny within local authorities suggests that 
committees should strive to follow and achieve the following four key 
principles:  
1. Provide a ‘critical friend’ challenge to the Executive 
2. Reflect the voice and concerns of the public  
3. Be led and owned by the elected members of the Council  
4. Make a positive impact on service delivery and policy development  
 

Overview and Scrutiny is also charged with finding ways of ensuring the issues 
which matter to the public are the focus of their attention, and with finding 
new ways of getting citizens involved in the things that affect them. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny has considerable powers (as mentioned above): 
• Holding decision makers to account 
• Challenging and improving performance 
• Supporting the achievement of value for money 
• Challenging the ways things are done 

Page 61



7 
 

• Influencing decision makers with evidence-based recommendations 
• Bringing the evidence and views of stakeholders, users and citizens 

 
2.2 The Work of Overview and Scrutiny 
 
Overview and Scrutiny is Councillor led. As well as Councillors leading on the 
review of topics where they research issues and develop recommendations, 
they are also involved in setting work programmes for the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, bringing forward topics and issues, identifying who they 
want to hear from to inform their work and what they want to know and how 
they want it presented to them. 
 
Topics for Overview and Scrutiny are identified from a variety of sources. These 
can include:  

• The Council’s priorities and challenges 
• Topics suggested for review by Executive 
• Matters referred from Full Council 
• Topics put forward by Overview and Scrutiny Councillors 
• Topics suggested by the public 
• The Executive Forward Plan 

 
The focus of Overview and Scrutiny activity is on the quality of council services 
and other strategic borough-wide issues that affect the lives of people living 
and working in Copeland.  
 
Through their legislative powers, Copeland’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
can and will:  

• review and scrutinise delegated decisions taken by the Executive, 
individual Executive members or officers of the Council  
• review any matters referred under ‘Call-In’ and ‘Councillor Call for 
Action’ rules, and produce reports and recommendations as required  
• respond to external organisations whose actions affect Copeland 
residents  
• require Executive members and senior officers to attend meetings to 
be challenged about matters within their remits of responsibility  
• invite expert advisors, or other elected members of the Council and 
members of the public to take part in scrutiny reviews  
• refer matters to task and finish groups, comprised of smaller numbers 
of Councillors, to undertake in-depth reviews on specific matters 

 

Page 62



8 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny process primarily enables non-Executive Councillors 
to influence decisions that are taken by the Executive and to ensure that the 
views and needs of local people are taken into account. In this respect, the 
committees’ work programmes must have regard to the corporate priorities of 
the Council. 
 
2.3 The Political Management of Copeland 
 
Copeland Borough Council provides many services for the residents of 
Copeland. 
 
Copeland have an elected Mayor and 33 locally elected Councillors who 
represent the residents across the 17 wards that make up the borough. 
 
The council operates an Executive system, the Executive is comprised of the 
Elected Mayor and three Councillors who are each designated a particular 
portfolio area. These can be viewed on the Council’s website. 
 
The Council has a number of committees to deal with such matters as 
licencing, planning, governance and staffing, in addition to its Overview and 
Scrutiny function.  
 
The rules governing the way in which Overview and Scrutiny committees 
operate, including legislative context, can be found in Chapter 8 of the 
Council’s Constitution (Appendix B). 
 
Full Council (33 Councillors) agrees the annual budget and the Council’s overall 
policies. It also has responsibility for appointing the Chair of Council, noting the 
appointments to the Executives, and agreeing the Committees of the Council. 
 
 
2.4 How Overview and Scrutiny Works in Copeland 
 
This part of the Toolkit details how the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
operates at Copeland. 
 
There is one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, where the formal business of 
scrutiny is usually carried out during scheduled committee meetings, the 
purpose and composition of which is defined by legislation and outlined in 

Page 63



9 
 

Chapter 8 ‘Overview and Scrutiny’ of the Constitution, which can be found in 
Appendix B. 
 
Scrutiny work is also carried out in smaller, informal ‘task and finish’ groups, 
which are not covered in legislation. These are time-limited bodies established 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to gather evidence and produce 
reports and/or recommendations on specific subjects. These 
recommendations will aim to be focussed and valuable and be made to the 
Executive. 
 
 
2.4.1  Call-In of Executive Decisions 
 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or two Councillors can Call-
In a decision of the Executive/Portfolio Holder. 
 
The Call-In procedure only applies to decisions regarding Executive functions. It 
does not apply to decisions made by the two regulatory Committees - Planning 
and Licensing or to the Standards Committee. 
 
Nor does it apply to: - 

• Decisions that have already been implemented or previously called-in 

• Decisions agreed to be exempted from Call-In under urgency 
procedures. 

 
A called-in decision is examined at either a special Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting or the next available scheduled meeting. The Chair 
consults with the Committee to formulate a line of enquiry. The Executive and 
relevant employees are advised of the situation. Once the meeting is 
scheduled, it is advertised within five clear working days. Members of the 
public with a special interest may be invited to present evidence. Once all 
evidence has been taken, it is evaluated, and written recommendations are 
made to the Executive. 
 
The Executive must consider Overview and Scrutiny recommendations and 
provide a formal response. The Executive can accept or reject any or all of the 
recommendations. If the recommendations are accepted, then the Executive 
explains how and when they will be actioned. If the recommendations are 
rejected, the Executive informs Overview and Scrutiny of its reasons for doing 

Page 64



10 
 

so. Please refer to Appendix C of the Toolkit and the Overview and Scrutiny 
webpage for the Constitution Call-In Protocol. 
 

2.4.2  Call for Action 
 
“Councillor Call for Action” (CCfA) was introduced under Section 119 of the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, and came into 
force on 1 April 2009. The Act enables any member of the Council to refer to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee any Local Government matter or any 
crime and disorder matter which affects their ward/division. 
 
The power to refer a matter is available only where the matter is of direct 
concern to the ward or division, which the Councillor represents. A Councillor 
can refer a matter even if no citizen has asked him/her to consider it, and there 
is no requirement for Councillors in multi-member wards to agree – any of the 
ward Councillors can refer a matter. 
 
It must be noted that CCfA is not guaranteed to solve a given problem. CCfA 
can provide a method for discussing such problems and, through discussion, 
trying to overcome them. 
 
There are a number of issues that are excluded from referral as a CCfA: 
 

• Individual complaints concerning personal grievances or commercial 
issues. 

• Any matter relating to an individual or entity where there is already a 
statutory right to a review or appeal (other than the right to complain to 
the Local Government Ombudsman), for example: 

o Planning and licensing applications and appeals 
o Council Tax/Housing Benefits complaints and queries 
o Issues currently under dispute in a court of law. 

• Any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be 
included on the agenda for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any of its sub-committees. 

 

A referral, as long as it is not an excluded matter, will ensure that the matter is 
included on the agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. It is then up 
to the Committee to decide whether or not to take the matter further. 
 
A referral made to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is seen as being the 
end of the CCfA process (the last resort) and not the first step. 

Page 65



11 
 

 
Please refer to Appendix C of the Toolkit for the Constitution Call for Action 
Protocol. 
 
2.4.3  How Overview and Scrutiny Work is Monitored 
 
Task and Finish Group recommendations are considered and approved by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then referred to the Executive and/or 
Full Council for a response. The Executive is invited to provide a response and 
decision for each Overview and Scrutiny recommendation. 
 
The Executive Response can be either: 

• Accept the recommendation 

• Amend the recommendation – providing the alternative decision 
and reasons for this decision 

• Reject the recommendation – giving reasons for the rejection 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should monitor the impact of its work 
and that of the Task and Finish Groups by reviewing the implementation of the 
recommendations. This review could come in the form of a Review Report to 
review the recommendations that have been accepted by the Executive and 
monitor their progress. 
 
 
2.4.4  What Overview and Scrutiny Does Not Do 
 
Overview and Scrutiny does not get involved in minor matters or individual 
concerns which are not of wider community significance. These need to be 
pursued through the appropriate service unit, ward Councillors or with the 
Portfolio Holder responsible for the matter in question. Nor will Overview and 
Scrutiny deal with complaints or regulatory matters such as planning or 
licencing applications or matters that are subject to review by another 
organisation or group within or outside of the Council. These should be 
addressed through the Council’s complaints procedure. Overview and scrutiny 
committees also cannot deal with matters that are still subject to court 
proceedings. In the case that individual matters are referred to it, Overview 
and Scrutiny could look to see if the matter relates to a wider strategic issue 
that it could investigate. 
 
  

Page 66



12 
 

3 Overview and Scrutiny Roles  

 
There are many different approaches to running Overview and Scrutiny; there 
is no “one size fits all” approach. What is clear, however, is that successful 
scrutiny relies upon the engagement of a wide number of enthusiastic 
Councillors.  
 
For the Council to maintain and develop a successful Overview and Scrutiny 
function, Councillors must take a leading role in the process; it is not a task just 
for the Chair and Deputy-Chair.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny is an a-political function, meaning that Councillors must 
act in a non-partisan manner, encompassing the appropriate skills and 
competencies required to be able to influence a wide range of public bodies 
with the aim of improving services for local people.  
 
Councillors must take the lead, not only in work programming but in 
questioning witnesses, formulating recommendations, and preparing reports 
for consideration by decision makers.  
 
It is important that Councillors make time for detailed involvement of topics 

under review and be free from party political pressure through their respective 

political groups. 

It is vital that the Overview and Scrutiny process should be open and inclusive 
– working for and with the community and partners to achieve common goals. 
Councillors should be prepared to receive raw information from users and the 
community. This means that to carry out the Overview and Scrutiny role 
effectively, Councillors will need well developed questioning and analytical 
skills. 
 

3.1 Councillors 

Councillors either individually or collectively will already possess a lot of the 
personal skills required but the new focus will be in bringing these together in 
a way that ensures confidence in the outcomes and recommendations at the 
end of the Overview and Scrutiny process. A key factor will be to ensure that 
the findings and recommendations are supported by evidence. This provides 
transparency to the Overview and Scrutiny process. 
 

Page 67



13 
 

Councillors serving on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and a Task & 
Finish Group will receive a considerable amount of paperwork to read and will 
attend quite a few activities in relation to a specific review. Councillors will 
decide what to investigate, how the review will be undertaken, who will be 
invited to appear to give evidence to assist with each review and the questions 
to be asked. Having heard all the evidence, the Group will consider its 
conclusions and make recommendations within a report for presentation to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will then forward the report to the Executive and/or Full Council for 
consideration. 
 
The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Councillors will involve some or all of the 
following activities: 

• Agreeing a manageable work programme with the members of the  
Committee 

• Receiving and examining information regarding service areas 
• Participating constructively in the activities of the Committee under 

the guidance of the Chair 
• Taking an active role in Task & Finish Groups which could include 

research, site visits, questioning contributors and developing 
recommendations 

• Holding Executive members and senior employees to account 
• Taking part in training and development programmes 

Copeland Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee is comprised of 

11 Councillors. Each Councillor is confirmed every year at the Council’s Annual 

General Meeting (AGM) which is held in May. To ensure that the Committee is 

a-political, the Committee membership is determined by the political make-up 

of the Council. For 2021/22 the Committee has 6 Labour, 4 Conservative and 1 

Independent member. 

 

3.2 Overview and Scrutiny Chair 

The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have 
additional responsibilities to that of members of the Committees. The Chair 
needs to be fairly assertive to ensure meetings meet their objectives. The Chair 
controls the meeting by allowing others to get their point over, maintain a 
balanced discussion, stick to the agenda, and discourage deviation and delay. 
The Chair will need to be firm but fair, open, and frank, and clearly and 

Page 68



14 
 

confidently make points. During a meeting the Chair needs to encourage the 
participation of all Councillors. 
 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for drawing 
up the agenda for each meeting in advance with the support of the Scrutiny 
Officer. 
 
The Chair and Deputy Chair need a variety of skills that require continual 
development such as:  

• Communication 
• Time Management 
• Project Management 
• Analytical Skills 
• Listening Skills 
• Interpretation, clarification, and summarising skills 

 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Task & Finish 
Groups have additional responsibilities to ensure that a review reaches its 
desired outcome. The Chair should ensure that members of the Groups are 
working towards the desired outcome of the review rather than digressing. 
 
To achieve this the Chair needs to be assertive in keeping the discussion to 
agenda items only. When drawing the meeting to a close it is essential for the 
Chair to make clear all decisions that have been taken by the Group, clarify 
what information is required for the next meeting, make clear the time and 
date of the next meeting, and clarify the agenda items to be considered at the 
next meeting. 
 
3.3 Training 

Each Overview and Scrutiny Councillor should take part in training. This 
training will help them to understand the role they are expected to undertake 
and to further develop the necessary skills needed to effectively scrutinise and 
analyse the information provided to Overview and Scrutiny. 
 
The training also includes questioning techniques which can be found in 
Appendix D. 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



15 
 

3.4 Portfolio Holder 

The relevant Portfolio Holder may be called on to provide input into Task & 
Finish Groups by providing information on the issue being scrutinised within 
their portfolio, or to explain their reasons for making a specific decision which 
has been `called-in.’ The Portfolio Holder will only be able to participate in a 
review at the invitation of the Chair, otherwise they will be classed as 
observers only. The Chair should send out a formal request to the Portfolio 
Holder outlining the reasons why attendance is required. The Portfolio Holder 
should be notified in advance if they are required to provide any supporting 
documentation and given a reasonable timeframe for when they will be 
expected to attend a meeting. 
 
The Portfolio Holder will also be asked to attend an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting approximately six months after the Review Report 
Recommendations have been accepted by the Executive to provide a progress 
report on the implementation of the recommendations. 
 
3.5 Public Participation 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is keen to develop Scrutiny as an 
accessible and open process. Public participation is an important part of the 
Overview and Scrutiny process and members of the public may get involved in 
several ways:  
 

• Attending a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
• Writing to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee 

considers written evidence and members of the public, community 
groups or other key stakeholders can write in to bring evidence to the 
attention of Overview and Scrutiny members. Written evidence may put 
forward a particular perspective on the issue being considered or may 
highlight statistical evidence to inform the review. 

• Becoming a witness. Being called as a witness gives individuals a rare 
and valuable chance to make a real contribution to improving the quality 
of local services. 

• Expressing an interest to become a co-opted member. This can be 
either for a municipal year or for a specific Task & Finish Group. 

• Suggesting topics for Scrutiny.  
• Contact a Ward/Borough Councillor. This can be done regarding either a 

specific topic or a ‘Call-In’ (as per the protocol in Appendix B). You can 

Page 70



16 
 

find a list of Borough, Council, Town and Parish Councillors and the areas 
they represent here. 

 
 
3.6 Addressing the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The public will be able to speak at an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meeting if individuals are providing relevant information to an agenda item. It 
is important for the efficiency of the meeting that individuals wishing to make 
the same points are represented by one individual who can state that they are 
a representative. Public speaking is limited to five minutes. 
 
Individuals other than the Overview and Scrutiny Committee should inform the 
Chair prior to the meeting of their wish to speak at the meeting. Whilst waiting 
to be called to speak, they should be seated in the public gallery. The Chair will 
decide the appropriate time to call the speaker to the table. Once the speaker 
has finished what they wish to say, they will be requested to leave the table. 
Where the public wish to raise new issues for scrutinising this should be done 
in writing.  
 
3.7 Employees of the Council 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a Scrutiny Officer who manages the 
Committee and the corresponding Task & Finish Groups, carries out research, 
assists in compiling the Group’s final and update reports, drafts the Annual 
Report, assists in the production of the Annual Work Programme, assists with 
training, and sets up relevant meetings, such as Informal meetings with the 
Committee and meetings of the Chair and Deputy Chair. 
 

Other employees may be called on to provide expert input in their professional 
capacity, for example, in a written report or through a presentation. The 
information that employees give should, as far as possible, be confined to 
factual statements and explanations relating to policies and decisions as 
appropriate. Employees should avoid being drawn into discussions on the 
merits or alternative Policies where this is politically contentious.  
 

  

Page 71

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/copelands-councillors-and-mp


17 
 

4 The Annual Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 

This part of the Toolkit explains how the annual Overview and Scrutiny 
Work Programme is put together and agreed. 
 
“One of the main pitfalls that will lead to the failure of overview and scrutiny 
is to have an unrealistic and unmanageable work programme. It is therefore 
important for members to not only be aware of this but to take the lead and 
“own” the individual work programmes of each committee”  
 

Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) 
 
Setting the annual Work Programme for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
is an important stage in the Overview and Scrutiny process, identifying key 
topics that will be considered in the coming year. 
 
Some key principles for setting the work programme are: - 
• Topics must add value and support the corporate priorities 
• Where appropriate involve partners, stakeholders and the public 
• Allow some flexibility to enable topics to be included as they arise 
 
Sources of information to identify key topics: - 
• Outcomes of public consultation 
• Suggestions made by Councillors 
• Executive Forward Plan  
• Corporate Performance Monitoring Reports 
• Suggestions made by partners/stakeholders 
• The Council’s Improvement Plan 
• Directorate Service Plans 
• Previous and planned reviews – for example cross-cutting best value or 
management reviews 
 
Choosing topics 
• Topics for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes can be 
considered as different types of work including Policy Review, review of 
external organisations, performance review and Call-In of decisions. 
• Once the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has agreed its work programme 
it will be important for it to identify and agree the highest priority topics where 
they will add most value through its work. 
• Due to the level of resources required to successfully undertake detailed 
reviews it is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee only do 

Page 72



18 
 

a limited number in one year. This will also help to keep the work programme 
flexible. 
• Cross-cutting topics where joint working with other Local Authorities or 
organisations will add value and need to be identified early in the Overview 
and Scrutiny process to ensure that there is capacity in the work programme. 
• It is important to identify lead employees to help plan resources and manage 
time. 
 
Before a topic is added to the Work Programme, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee create a mini scope for each possible topic before rating it to see if 
Scrutiny can: 

 

• provide an impartial perspective  

• challenge assumptions and making evidence-gathering more robust  

• develop realistic plans and targets  

• secure ownership and buy-in to the final decision  

• engage with and satisfying the public  
 

There is a legal requirement for the Executive to respond to recommendations 
made by Overview and Scrutiny within two months of them being made. 
Partner organisations have a responsibility to ‘have regard’ to any 
recommendations addressed to them. The response to a recommendation 
from a decision-maker should consist of:  
 

• a clear commitment to delivering the measure within the timescale set out  
• a commitment to be held to account on that delivery in six months and/or a 
year  
• detailed, substantive reasons why a recommendation is proposed to not be 
accepted/adopted  
 
  

Page 73



19 
 

5 Conducting an Overview and Scrutiny Review 

 
This part of the Toolkit is designed to guide all those involved in Overview and 
Scrutiny through the procedure from beginning to end. This is for both the 
reviews that take place during formal Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meetings and for Task & Finish Groups. 
 
Each key section has been identified and explained from scoping the review to 
identifying relevant information, considering the timeframe, project plan, 
assessing the evidence, forming conclusions, drafting the report, and 
monitoring recommendations. 
 
5.1 Scoping a review 

Scoping a review is essential to minimise the risks that might prevent a review 
reaching its desired outcome. There are eight steps that should be followed:  
 

• Identifying the objectives and key issues 
To ascertain what the Scrutiny Committee and Group wants to achieve and 
what the main issues are that need to be addressed in order to achieve the 
objectives. Some of this work will have been carried out when the Overview 
and Scrutiny annual work programme was set. 

• Creating a term of reference 
Creating a terms of reference document will help keep the Committee and 
Group on the right track throughout the review and will help inform those who 
are new to review what will be included within the review and what will not be 
included. 

• Establishing the timeframe for the Review 
The overall timeframe of the review will be established by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and the Task & Finish Group respectively. The scoping 
process needs to determine how the review process will fit into the overall 
timeframe that has been decided. 

• Outlining stakeholders and evidence required 
What evidence is required to achieve the outcomes and who needs to be 
called as a witness. 

• Suggested co-opted members to the Review 
Consider expressions of interest to becoming a co-opted member to the 
review. 

• Considering the lines of enquiry 

Page 74



20 
 

Once the objectives and the key issues have been decided, lines of enquiry 
should be determined to help focus the review and enable a consistent 
approach to a topic across meetings. 

• Methodology for the review 
This will help confirm how the review will be carried out, such as either 
through interviews or questionnaires, virtually or in person, or even how many 
meetings take place within the set timeframe. 

• Recognise potential risks 
Potential risks to the success of the review need to be identified from the start 
in order that they can be avoided later in the process. A standard scoping 
proforma is used for all Task & Finish Group reviews – See Appendix A. 
 
5.2 Collecting the information and evidence 

 
Key issues and objectives will have been identified in the scoping phase and a 
broad outline of the evidence required will have been suggested and included 
in the scope of the review. The next step is to identify the sources of the 
information required and the methods for collecting that information. 
 
Recommendations that the Scrutiny Committee and Task & Finish Groups 
formulated at the end of the review must be evidence based and be seen to 
reference the information that has been provided. 
 
Evidence which can be gathered from a variety of sources includes but are not 
limited to; researching best practice from other local authorities or through 
local government organisations, current Council Policy, proposed or recent 
Government legislation, previous or possible consultation, performance 
indicators, public meetings, site visits, witnesses, oral or written evidence, 
consultations and any previous work or reviews that might be relevant. 
 
5.3 Considering Witnesses 

 
Witnesses have a key role to play in helping Scrutiny and Task & Finish Groups 
fulfil their review objectives. Care needs to be taken when inviting witnesses to 
appear. The term can be off putting to people. Informal initial approaches 
either face to face or by telephone may help to reassure people, especially 
those outside the Council. Throughout the hearing of the evidence stage, the 
review objectives need to be constantly in mind and the information assessed 
against these. Witnesses may need pulling back on track. 

Page 75



21 
 

 
5.4 Creating a question plan 

Providing a question plan for witnesses to consider prior to attendance at an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting will make the most of their 
attendance at the meeting. 
 
5.5 Assessing the evidence and making recommendations 

The review process can take several meetings and while Councillors involved 
should consider and scrutinise the subject throughout the review, time should 
also be set aside during the penultimate meeting to assess all the information 
that has been received to that point. When forming conclusions all the main 
points raised during the review should be considered to enable clear links to be 
shown between evidence and final recommendations. The Scrutiny Officer will 
support Councillors in collating the evidence that has been provided for their 
review and analysis, advise on the impact of the potential recommendations 
and help in constructing the formal review findings and recommendations.  
 
Recommendations are the purpose of the review process and should lead to 
tangible improvements in service delivery or corporate direction. The desired 
outcome of the review, outlined in the scope, should be held at the forefront 
of Councillors’ minds when debating their final recommendations. 
 
When making recommendations it is important to remember that it is not just 
the right answer that matters but also evidence of how this conclusion was 
reached. 
 
Recommendations should: - 

• Link to the evidence provided 
• Be concise and easy to understand 
• Link to the scope of the review 
• Include methods for monitoring the recommendations 

 
It is also important that feedback be given to those who contributed to the 
inquiry, this should be clear as to the actions proposed as a result of the review 
and whose responsibility they are to be carried out. 
 

5.6 Reporting 

Once the Scrutiny Committee or Task & Finish Group has formed its final 
recommendations the Chair and the Scrutiny Officer will prepare a draft 

Page 76



22 
 

report. The draft report will then be considered at the final meeting of the 
Scrutiny Committee or Task & Finish Group for comment and suggested 
amendments. All comments and suggested amendments should be considered 
by the Chair and any changes made accordingly. 
 
After the report has been presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
it will then report to either the Executive or Full Council as appropriate. 
 

A good recommendation is:  
• evidence-informed and realistic  

• specific about the change recommended  

• related to corporate priorities / developed in partnership with the 
executive, council officers and council partners  

• focused on measurable outcomes  

• addressed to a specific person or group  

• realistic about resource/financing requirements  
 

.5.7 Monitoring 

Monitoring arrangements need to be made to accompany any 
recommendations in order that progress can be measured. The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will monitor progress and if progress is not satisfactory, 
further scrutiny can be undertaken. 
 
The Portfolio Holder will also be asked to attend a meeting of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee approximately six months after the review report 
recommendations have been accepted by the Executive to provide a progress 
report on the implementation of the recommendations. 
 
Follow up regarding the outcomes of the scrutiny process will be 
communicated in the form of the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report. The 
Annual report will be prepared in time for the end of the Municipal Year and 
presented to Full Council. The Annual Report will include an account of all the 
reviews that have been undertaken by Task & Finish Groups over the course of 
the year and a description of the main achievements of the Overview and 
Scrutiny process. 
 
In the case that unsatisfactory progress reports are received, the committee 
may undertake additional scrutiny activity to ensure adopted 
recommendations are acted upon.  
  

Page 77



23 
 

6 How to find out more about Overview and Scrutiny 
 

You can find out more information about Overview and Scrutiny by visiting the 
Overview and Scrutiny page on the Copeland Borough Council website. 
 
On the website you will be able to find links to the agenda packs and minutes 
of meetings, as well as FAQs. 
 
You can also contact the Scrutiny Officer using the contact information in 6.1. 
 
6.1 Contact and Further Information  
 

You can contact the Scrutiny Officer by: 

 

• E-mail:  scrutiny@copeland.gov.uk 

• Telephone: 01946 598454 

• By post: 
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) 
Electoral and Democratic Services 
Copeland Borough Council 
Market Hall, Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 

 

General Information - Check out the Council’s A to Z of Council services on the 
website. 
 

General Enquiries - Tel: 01946 598300 

    Email: info@copeland.gov.uk 

  

Page 78

mailto:scrutiny@copeland.gov.uk


24 
 

7 Links to Useful Information 
 

Centre for Public Scrutiny www.cfps.org.uk 
Promotes the value of scrutiny in 
modern and effective government 

Local Government Association www.lga.gov.uk 
The LGA represents the interests of 
local authorities across the country 

Local Government Improvement 
and Development 

www.local-gov.uk 
Local Government Improvement and 
Development is an organisation 
dedicated to seeking improvement 
and sharing best practice in local 
government 

Local Government Information Unit www.lgiu.gov.uk 
The LGIU provides an information, 
advice, training, and lobbying service 
for local authorities 

Association for Public Service 
Excellent (APSE) 
 

www.apse.org.uk 
APSE is a non-profit making 
organisation with involvement from 
elected members, officers, and trade 
unions. It promotes public services 
via networking, the sharing of 
information and best practice 

Audit Commission www.audit.commisssion.gov.uk 
 

UK online www.online.gov.uk 
The easy way to access government 
services on the internet. 
 

Institute of Local Government 
Studies INLOGOV 

www.inlogov.bham.ac 
The core of INLOGOV’s work is 
around the policy and management 
agendas of Local Authorities 

www.local-pi-library.gov.uk An off-the-shelf set of defined local 
authority performance indicators 
produced by the Audit Commission 
and the Improvement and 
Development Agency (IDeA). 

Page 79

http://www.cfps.org.uk/
http://www.lga.gov.uk/
http://www.local-gov.uk/
http://www.lgiu.gov.uk/
http://www.apse.org.uk/
http://www.audit.commisssion.gov.uk/
http://www.online.gov.uk/
http://www.inlogov.bham.ac/


25 
 

www.infor4local.gov.uk A one stop shop portal for Local 
Authorities to get quick and easy 
access to information they need on 
the websites of central government 
departments, agencies and bodies  

 
 

 

Page 80



26 
 

 

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny  

Task and Finish Group 

Scoping Guidelines 

 

 

[TITLE] 

[YEAR] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

Page 81



27 
 

 
TASK & FINISH PROTOCOL 
 
The Task and Finish Group Protocol advises that all Councillors need to be 
thoroughly involved in the planning of a review. You need to consider the 
specific issues it will cover and agree a plan. You should think about: 
 
 

• Clear statement of the scrutiny topic (Terms of Reference) 

 

• Aim/purpose of the project  

 

• What will be included? 

 

• What will be excluded? 

 

• Specific questions 

 

• How will it contribute to achieving Corporate priorities? 

 

• List of key stakeholders, partners, other agencies 

 

• List of key witnesses – Internal and External 

 

• How will information be gathered? (site visits, written reports, witnesses 

etc) 

 

• Corporate Support 

 

• Governance 

 

• Equality & Diversity 

 

• Timescale  

 

• Publicity (Communications team to advise)   

Page 82



28 
 

1. Clear Statement of the Scrutiny Topic 

  

 
 
2. Aim/Purpose of the Project  
 

 

 
3. What will be included? 
 
 

 
4. What will be excluded? 
 

 

 
5. Specific questions 
 

 

Page 83



29 
 

 
 
6. How will it contribute to achieving Corporate Priorities? 
 

 

 
7. List of key stakeholders, partners and other agencies  
 

 

 
8. List of witnesses – Internal and External bodies  
 
 

 
9. How will information be gathered? 
 

 

 

Page 84



30 
 

 
 
 
10. Corporate Support? 
 
 
 
 

 
11. Governance 
 

 
 
 

 
12. Equality & Diversity 
 

 
 

 
13. Timescale 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 85



31 
 

14.  Consider how the report will be publicised (Communications Team to 
advise) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15. Background Papers 
 

 
 

 
16. Any other items 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 86



32 
 

 
 
Appendix B – Overview and Scrutiny Protocols 
 
 

 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Protocols for Copeland Borough Council can be found 
in Chapter 8 of the Council’s Constitution which can be found below.  

APPENDIX B 

Page 87



33 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
8.1 APPOINTMENT, MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 
  
8.1.1  The Council will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

comprising 13 members  
 
8.1.2  The Chair and Deputy Chair will also work as part of an informal Co-

ordinating Board, to ensure good communication and the effective 
running of the business. 

 
8.1.3  The Terms of Reference for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 

to: 
 

• scrutinise services delivered by the Council 

• scrutinise the budget process 

• scrutinise the development of the Corporate Planning process 
and any other key strategy 

• hold the Executive to account by keeping the Forward Plan 
under review and reviewing decisions 

• monitor the implementation of any Overview and Scrutiny 
recommendations accepted by the Executive  

• scrutinise performance issues within the Council and make 
recommendations for service improvements 

• scrutinise the results and issues arising from external 
inspections of Council services 

• review issues of local concern 

• appoint Improvement Groups as necessary to carry out detailed 
Overview and Scrutiny work 

•  scrutinise locality working and partnership working 
arrangements including the Local Strategic Partnership 

CHAPTER 8 –  
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY   

Page 88



34 
 

• scrutinise other decision makers where their decisions affect the 
Borough including the Copeland Local Area Committee, Cumbria 
Association of Local Councils, the Lake District National Park and 
major regeneration organisations and funders 

• scrutinise the West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership and 
act as the Crime and Disorder Committee 

• contribute to statutory obligations in relation to scrutiny of 
health issues 

 
 

8.2 General  
 
8.2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be politically balanced.  

Members of the Executive, Members of the Audit and Governance 
Committee and the Chairman of Council are excluded from membership 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may also appoint, in a non-voting capacity, people who are 
not Members of the Authority. 

 
8.2.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for 

discharging functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government 
Act 2000 as amended by the Local Government and Public Involvement 
in Health Act 2007 and Regulations under Section 32 of the Local 
Government Act 2000.  

 
8.2.3  Members will be required to have undertaken the requisite training and 

development to the satisfaction of the  Monitoring Officer. 
  
8.3     Specific 

Within its terms of reference the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will: 

 i) Review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in 
connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions; 

   
 ii) Make reports and/or recommendations to the Council and/or 

its Executive and other Committees and/or any Joint Committee 

Page 89



35 
 

in connection with the discharge of any functions and/or any 
other partner organisation; 

 
 iii)  Be involved from the initial stage of policy development and 

make appropriate recommendations to the Executive and 
officers.   

 
 iv) Consider any matter affecting the area; 
 
 v) Consider/determine called in decisions of the Executive in 

accordance with the “Call-in” Procedure set out in the 
Procedure Rules within this Constitution. 

 
8.4     Finance 
 
 The Budget for this Committee will be held by the  Electoral and 

Democratic Services Manager. 
 
 
8.5  Annual Report  
 
 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will report annually to the 

Council on its work.  
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 

 
1. The arrangements for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee? 
 

The Council will have an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in 
this Chapter and will appoint to it as it considers appropriate from time 
to time. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will carry out the 
overview and scrutiny functions conferred on the Council by Section 21 
of the Local Government Act 2000.  The terms of reference of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees are as set out in this chapter. 

 
 
 

Page 90



36 
 

2. Who may sit on Overview and Scrutiny Committees? 
 

All Councillors except Members of the Executive, Members of the Audit 
and Governance Committee and the Chair of Council may be members of 
an Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  However, no Member may be 
involved in scrutinising a decision in which he/she has been directly 
involved. 

 

3. Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

There shall be ordinary meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in each year in accordance with a programme of meetings to 
be agreed by the Council.  In addition, extraordinary meetings may be 
called from time to time by the Chair or by the proper officer if he/she 
considers it necessary or appropriate. 

 

4.  Quorum 
 

The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be one 
quarter of voting members, as set out for committees in the Council 
Procedure Rules in Chapter 5 this Constitution. 

 
5.  Who chairs overview and scrutiny committee meetings? 
 

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be appointed at 
the Annual Meeting of Council or by the committee at its first meeting 
after the Annual Meeting and the Chair must be from a different political 
group to the Mayor. For clarification, if the Mayor is from a political party 
then the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny will be a member of the largest 
opposition group. If the Mayor is independent then the Chair of Overview 
and Scrutiny will be a member of the political group with the largest 
majority. The Deputy Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
must be from a different group to the Chair.  

 
 
 

Page 91



37 
 

6. Work programme 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for setting its 
own work programme. 

 
7.  Agenda items 
 

The leader of any group on the Council may require the proper officer to 
include an item on the agenda of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
for consideration.  The proper officer shall inform the Chair of the request 
at the earliest opportunity, and make arrangements for the matter to be 
included on the agenda at the next available meeting of the Committee. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as its work 
programme permits, to requests from the Council and/or the Executive 
to review particular areas of Council activity. Where they do so, the 
Committee shall report their findings and any recommendations back to 
the Executive and/or Council. The Council and/or the Executive shall 
consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee within 2 
months of receiving it. 

A member of the public or a Councillor may suggest an item for inclusion 
on the agenda, in which case the Chair and in his/her absence, the Vice 
Chair will determine its inclusion or not. 

 
8. Policy review and development 
 

The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the 
development of the Council’s budget and policy framework is set out in 
detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

 
In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other 
matters not forming part of its policy and budget framework, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will  make proposals and 
recommendations to the Executive in so far as they relate to matters 
within its terms of reference. 

 

Page 92



38 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will hold enquiries and investigate 
the available options for future direction in policy development and may 
appoint advisers and assessors to assist them in this process. They may 
go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, 
commission research and do all other things that they reasonably 
consider necessary to inform their deliberations. They may ask witnesses 
to attend to address them on any matter under consideration and may 
pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and 
expenses for doing so. 

 
 
9. Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Once it has formed recommendations on proposals, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will prepare a formal report and submit it to the 
proper officer for consideration by the Executive (if the proposals are 
consistent with the existing budgetary and policy framework), or to the 
Council as appropriate (e.g. if the recommendation would require a 
departure from or a change to the agreed budget and policy framework). 

 
If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final 
report to the Council or Executive as appropriate, then up to one minority 
report may be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Council 
or Executive with the majority report. 

 
The Council or Executive shall consider the report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee within two months of it being submitted to the 
proper officer. 

 
10. Making sure that overview and scrutiny reports are considered by the 

Executive. 
 

 The agenda for Executive meetings shall include an item entitled ‘Issues 
arising from overview and scrutiny’. The reports of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee referred to the Executive shall be included at this 
point in the agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of 

Page 93



39 
 

the Executive’s deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within 
3 weeks of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its 
report/recommendations. 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will in any event have access to 
the Executive’s forward plan and timetable for decisions and intentions 
for consultation. Even where an item is not the subject of detailed 
proposals from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee following a 
consideration of possible policy/service developments, the committee 
will at least be able to respond in the course of the Executive’s 
consultation process in relation to any key decision. 

 
 
11. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents 
 

In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee have the additional right to documents and to notice 
of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
 
12.  Members and officers giving account 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review 
decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any 
Council functions. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the 
scrutiny role, it may require any member of the Executive (as decision 
takers), the Head of Paid Service and/or any senior officer (as witnesses) 
to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
i)  any particular decision or series of decisions; 

 
ii)  the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; 
and/or 

 
iii) their performance. 

 

Page 94



40 
 

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 
 

Where any member or officer is required to attend a meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the chair of the 
Committee will inform the proper officer. The proper officer shall inform 
the member or officer in writing giving at least 3 working days’ notice of 
the meeting at which he/she is required to attend. The notice will state 
the nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give 
account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the 
Committee. Where the account to be given to the Committee will require 
the production of a report, then the member or officer concerned will be 
given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 
Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to 
attend on the required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
shall in consultation with the member or officer arrange an alternative 
date for attendance. 

 
13.  Attendance by others 
 

An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those 
people referred to in paragraph 14 above to address it, discuss issues of 
local concern and/or answer questions. It may for example wish to hear 
from residents, stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of 
the public sector and shall invite such people to attend. 

 
14. Call-In 
 

The following provisions will comprise the Call-In Procedure under 
Sections 21(2) and (3) of the Local Government Act 2000: 

 
(i) An Executive Decision Notice will be published and circulated to 

all Members not more than 2 working days after the date the 
decision(s) is/are taken. 

 
(ii) Decisions of the Executive will not be implemented before the 

expiry of 5 working days after publication of the Executive 

Page 95



41 
 

Decision Notice, pending a decision from Overview and 
Scrutiny, or any three Members, on call-in. If a request for call 
in is received, the decision of the Executive will not be 
implemented until the following due process is completed. 

 
(iii) Within 5 working days after the publication of the Executive 

Decision Notice, the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any 3 Members of the 
Council can submit a requisition in writing (the requisition to be 
signed by all the Members making the requisition) to the Proper 
Officer that a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
be held to scrutinise a specific decision of the Executive.   

 
(iv) The grounds on which the decision is being called in will be 

specified in the requisition, and must be one of the following 
 

(i) the decision is outside the Executive’s terms of reference 
or the Council’s policy framework,  

(ii) the decision conflicts with approved Council policy,  
(iii) the proper decision and/or consultation process was not 

followed.  
 

(v) Any meeting of the Committee convened as a result of the call-
in request shall be held within 5 clear working days of the 
requisition being received. 

 
(vi) The specified Executive decision can be referred back to the 

Executive by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for further 
consideration, together with such recommendation on the 
decision as the Committee considers appropriate and can, at the 
discretion of the Executive, be then implemented without 
further delay. 

 
(vii) For the purposes of scrutinising specific decisions, the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee shall have powers to require Members 
of the Executive to attend meetings of the Committee as 

Page 96



42 
 

decision takers, and/or Council officers to attend meetings as 
witnesses to answer questions relating to the specified decision. 

 
(viii) This procedure is not applicable to decisions taken under the 

Urgent Action provisions in the Executive Procedure Rules. 
 

15. Councillor Call for Action 
 

Where a petition has been considered by an Executive or a Committee 
and the presenter of the petition is not satisfied with the result of their 
consideration that person may request a Ward Councillor to instigate 
a Councillor Call for Action.  Alternatively a member of the public may 
ask their local Ward Councillor to instigate a Councillor Call for Action 
without presenting a petition.  In either of those two circumstances 
the Ward Councillor may write to the Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee requesting a Councillor Call for Action clearly 
setting out what is being requested. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chairman shall, provided he/she is satisfied, following 
consultation with the Chief Executive, that the request is reasonable, 
arrange for a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be 
held within 5 clear working days of such a request to consider how to 
deal with it. 

 
16. The party whip 

 
When considering any matter where a member of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is subject to a party whip the member must 
declare the existence of the whip and the nature of it before the 
commencement of the Committee’s deliberations on the matter. The 
declaration and the detail of the whipping arrangements shall be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
17. Procedure at overview and scrutiny committee meetings 
 
(a)  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following 

business: 
 

Page 97



43 
 

(i) apologies for absence; 
 

(ii) minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(iii) declarations of interest (including whipping declarations); 
(iv) consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a 

decision in relation to 
 

(a) call in of a decision; 
(b) responses of the executive to reports of the overview and 

scrutiny committee; and 
 

(v) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
(b) Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations 

(e.g. with a view to policy development), the committee may also ask 
people to 
attend to give evidence at Committee meetings which are to be 
conducted in 
accordance with the following principles: 

 
(i) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the 

Committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, 
and to contribute and speak; 

 
(ii) that those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated 

with respect and courtesy; and 
 

(iii)  that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the 
efficiency of the investigation or analysis. 

 
(c)    Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a 
report,  

for submission to the Executive and/or Council as appropriate and shall 
make its report and findings public. 

 
  

Page 98



44 
 

18. Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committees 
 
18.1 Overview and Scrutiny Performance Sub Committee 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Performance Sub-Committee has the 
responsibility of monitoring and reviewing the Council’s quarterly 
performance and finance reports.  
The number of members on the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
is decided by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
The membership of the Sub-Committee is decided by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
The Chair and Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
shall be chosen by the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee. 
 
 

 

Page 99



45 
 

 
Relating to 2.4.1 - Call-In of Executive Decisions of the Toolkit 
 
As detailed within Chapter 8 (point 14) of the Constitution, Copeland’s Call-In 
procedure is as followed; 
 
“ The following provisions will comprise the Call-In Procedure under Sections 
21(2) and (3) of the Local Government Act 2000:  
 

(i) An Executive Decision Notice will be published and circulated to all 
Members not more than 2 working days after the date the decision(s) is/are 
taken.  

(ii) Decisions of the Executive will not be implemented before the expiry 
of 5 working days after publication of the Executive Decision Notice, pending a 
decision from Overview and Scrutiny, or any three Members, on call-in. If a 
request for call in is received, the decision of the Executive will not be 
implemented until the following due process is completed.  

(iii) Within 5 working days after the publication of the Executive Decision 
Notice, the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 3 Members of the Council can submit a requisition in writing 
(the requisition to be signed by all the Members making the requisition) to the 
Proper Officer that a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be held 
to scrutinise a specific decision of the Executive.  

(iv) The grounds on which the decision is being called in will be specified 
in the requisition, and must be one of the following;  

(i) the decision is outside the Executive’s terms of reference or the 
Council’s policy framework,  
(ii) the decision conflicts with approved Council policy,  
(iii) the proper decision and/or consultation process was not 
followed.  

(v) Any meeting of the Committee convened as a result of the call-in 
request shall be held within 5 clear working days of the requisition being 
received.  

(vi) The specified Executive decision can be referred back to the 
Executive by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for further consideration, 
together with such recommendation on the decision as the Committee 
considers appropriate and can, at the discretion of the Executive, be then 
implemented without further delay.  

(vii) For the purposes of scrutinising specific decisions, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee shall have powers to require Members of the Executive to 

APPENDIX C 

Page 100



46 
 

attend meetings of the Committee as decision takers, and/or Council officers 
to attend meetings as witnesses to answer questions relating to the specified 
decision.  

(viii) This procedure is not applicable to decisions taken under the 
Urgent Action provisions in the Executive Procedure Rules.” 
 
Relating to 2.4.2 - Call for Action of the Toolkit 
 
As detailed within Chapter 8 (point 15) of the Constitution Copeland’s Call-In 
procedure is as followed; 
 
“Where a petition has been considered by an Executive or a Committee and 
the presenter of the petition is not satisfied with the result of their 
consideration that person may request a Ward Councillor to instigate a 
Councillor Call for Action. Alternatively a member of the public may ask their 
local Ward Councillor to instigate a Councillor Call for Action without 
presenting a petition. In either of those two circumstances the Ward Councillor 
may write to the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
requesting a Councillor Call for Action clearly setting out what is being 
requested. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairman shall, provided 
he/she is satisfied, following consultation with the Chief Executive, that the 
request is reasonable, arrange for a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to be held within 5 clear working days of such a request to consider 
how to deal with it.” 
 

Page 101



47 
 

 

QUESTIONNING TECHNIQUES 

 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

APPENDIX D 

Page 102



48 
 

All the while question are being asked, there should be active listening by all 

councillors. 

Active listening includes using body language, building trust, broadening 

perspective, increasing understanding, adding value and helps forming 

recommendations. 

If Overview and Scrutiny work together to build questions around themes to 

focus and explore the subject of the agenda item, this can help to develop key 

lines of enquiry. Preparation is key, both in terms of the Informal’s and asking 

questions there and background research into the subject.  

 

 

 

 

Page 103



49 
 

 
 
Glossary of Terms 
Detailed below are some of the terms used by Copeland Borough Council, 
which explain how the Council uses or interprets a term, phrase or 
abbreviation. 
  

APPENDIX E 

Page 104



50 
 

Annual Report 
Scrutiny Committees summarise their work and findings in an annual report. 
 
Audit Commission 
The Audit Commission is an independent body responsible for ensuring that 
public money is used economically, efficiently and effectively. It regulates the 
proper control of public finances by local authorities and the National Health 
Service, and is responsible for conducting inspections relating to Best Value 
Reviews and to the Comprehensive Performance Assessment of local councils.  
 
Allowance 
A payment towards expenses or costs. 
 
Members’ Allowances 
Paid to Members in recognition of out of pocket expenses or direct costs of 
being a Member of the Council. 
 
Best Value 
Relates to the Local Government Act, 1999 - the means by which the Council 
seeks to deliver high quality services in an efficient and cost effective way. 
 
BVPP 
Best Value Performance Plan 
 
Budget 
The annual summary of income and expenditure. 
 
By-Election 
An election which occurs between main (4 yearly) elections 
 
Call-in 
The process by which Overview and Scrutiny Committees can look at whether 
a decision is properly taken or is the right decision and require it to be 
considered. 
 
Casting vote 
A second vote made by the chair of the meeting to decide a matter when there 
is a tied vote. 
 
 

Page 105



51 
 

Chair/Deputy Chair 
The person who chairs a Committee of the Council e.g. a Scrutiny Committee 
 
Chief Executive 
The most senior paid official of the Council with overall responsibility for the 
whole of the Council’s operation. 
 
Coalition 
An alliance of groups or parties. 
 
Code of Practice/Code of Conduct 
A set of rules, usually of expected behaviour. 
 
Census 
Since 1801, every 10 years the nation has set aside one day for the Census - a 
count of all people and households. It is the most complete source of 
information about the population that we have. The latest Census was held on 
Sunday 21 March 2021. 
 
Community Strategy 
Under the Local Government Act 2000, all Councils are required to work in 
partnership with the community as well as private, voluntary and public sector 
partners to develop a long-term strategy to promote the social, economic and 
environmental well-being of their local communities. 
 
Co-Opted Member to a Scrutiny Panel 
An individual with an area of expertise or experience who is invited to sit on a 
Committee or Work Group (either for the Municipal year or for the duration of 
a specific review) to provide information and advice to maximise effective 
decision-making. 
 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) 
A performance management framework for Councils to draw together all the 
assessments made by the inspectorates, external Audit and Government 
departments Councils are rated in one of five categories (excellent, good, fair, 
weak, poor). One of the main outcomes of the assessment will be an action 
plan for improvement and a programme of work for the subsequent year. 
 
 
 

Page 106



52 
 

Constitution 
The set of rules governing the decision-making arrangements and activities of 
Copeland Borough Council 
 
Copeland Borough Council (CBC) 
The Local Authority, which delivers borough council services to the whole of 
Copeland. These are mostly different to the services provided by Cumbria 
County Council. 
 
Council 
The term used for the organisation or in respect of the meeting of all of the 
Councillors. 
 
Councillor (or Member) 
An elected local representative on the Council, a Councillor represents the 
interests of the people who live in their ward and Copeland as a whole. 
 
Council Tax 
The money raised by the Council from residents of the Borough. 
 
Cross-cutting Review 
A cross-cutting Review addresses a topic which covers more than one service 
area, and in certain cases, examines services provided by organisations other 
than the Council (e.g. the police, health trusts, voluntary sector organisations, 
etc.). One of the aims of such a Review is to ascertain how well the various 
agencies communicate and work together, and to put forward 
recommendations for improvements in this area. 
 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
The central Government Department with primary responsibility for Local 
Government matters. 
 
Directors 
The most senior paid officials, after the Chief Executive, each having 
responsibility for wide areas of the Council’s operations. 
 
Elected Mayor 
An individual elected directly by the electorate (not Councillors) to run the 
Council. 
 

Page 107



53 
 

Employee 
A paid official of the Council sometimes referred to as an Officer. 
 
Executive 
The Executive are a body of elected Councillors responsible for day-today 
running of the Council and the development of policy. Executive Members 
have portfolios or areas of responsibility (e.g. Housing) for which they take 
executive decisions 
 
Exempt information 
Information which is exempt from the normal publication rules (normally 
under Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act, 1972). 
 
Forward Plan 
A list of key decisions which will be taken by the Executive. The plan is updated 
each month. 
 
Head of Paid Service 
A statutory role, usually combined with that of Chief Executive. 
 
Home Office Improvement and Development Agency (IDeA) 
The Government department responsible for internal affairs in England and 
Wales, e.g. public order, public safety, immigration, etc. The Improvement and 
Development Agency (IDeA) was established by and for Local Government in 
April 1999. It aims to: 

- deliver practical solutions to improve local government 
performance 
- develop innovative approaches to ensure the transfer of 
knowledge 
- act on behalf of local government as a whole, promoting joined-
up, locally delivered services 

 
Independent Member 
Either a Councillor who is not a member of a recognised political party, or in 
the context of the Standards Committee, a member who is neither a Borough 
Councillor nor a Parish Council representative. 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



54 
 

Key Decision 
An important decision which affects more than one ward of the Council or will 
involve spending large amounts of money. They must be made public and can 
only be taken after appropriate notice. 
 
Leader of the Council 
The political head of the Council, usually the leader of the largest group of 
Members (or coalition) - responsible for the proposal of policies and day to day 
running of the Council. 
 
Local Government Association (LGA) 
The LGA represents the local authorities of England and Wales – a total of just 
under 500 authorities. There are 34 County Councils, 36 Metropolitan Borough 
Councils, 47 English Unitary Authorities, 33 London Authorities, 238 Shire 
District Councils and 22 Welsh Unitary Authorities. The LGA also represents 
Police Authorities, through the Association of Police Authorities (APA); Fire 
Authorities and Passenger Transport Authorities. 
 
Local Government Information Unit (LGIU) 
The LGIU is an independent research and information organisation supported 
by over 150 councils and the Local Government Trade Unions. The LGIU aims 
to be an advocate for strong democratic local government with the financial 
base and powers required to act with and on behalf of local communities. 
 
Local Government Ombudsman 
The nationally appointed person (department) which looks into complaints by 
the public about the way they have been treated by or the service they have 
received from Councils. 
 
Manager 
An employee who is responsible for managing employees, resources and 
services. 
 
Member (Councillor) within local government 
A Councillor; the elected representative of the community. 
 
Member of the Public 
Anyone who is not part of the Council. 
 
 

Page 109



55 
 

Minutes 
The formal record of the proceedings of a meeting. 
 
Monitoring Officer 
The officer appointed under the Local Government and Housing Act, 1989 to 
oversee the legality of the Councils actions and the ethical behaviour of 
Members and employees. 
 
Officer 
A paid official of the Council. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
The process offers both opportunities and challenges for Councillors and 
members of the public to improve the quality and delivery of services the 
Council provides to its local communities. The work of overview and scrutiny 
includes:- 

- Policy Development and Review 
- Oversight of the Best Value Review Programme 
- Holding Cabinet to account  

 
PI 
Performance Indicator 
 
Policy 
A plan of action or approach to an issue - part of the Council's Policy 
Framework. 
 
Policy and Financial Framework 
The Council's main policies and approach to managing its finances 
 
Political Proportionality / Balance 
The system by which each group is represented on Council bodies in 
proportion to the number of members of the particular group relative to the 
size of the council as a whole. 
 
Portfolio Holder 
A member of the Executive with responsibilities for specific aspects of the 
Council's policy or work. 
 
 

Page 110



56 
 

Protocol 
A document, which sets out, how people will behave or matters will be 
handled. 
 
Referendum 
A ballot of all electors of the Borough - in particular on whether they wish to 
have an elected mayor. 
 
Regulatory 
The functions of the Council which "regulate" e.g. licensing and planning. 
 
Rules of Procedure 
The rules that govern the way specified matters must be handled (previously 
known as Standing Orders). 
 
Scrutiny 
(See Overview and Scrutiny). The way in which Members oversee the work of 
the Council and investigate the needs of the community. 
 
Scrutiny Review 
A study led by Scrutiny Councillors on a current issue, selected by the 
Committee. It aims to identify areas of good as well as poor practice, compare 
performance with other councils' countrywide, and challenge existing practice 
where relevant. The Review will lead to recommendations for improvements 
to relevant Cabinet Members as well as outside agencies, such as health trusts. 
While these are not obliged to support the recommendations, effective 
consultation has been proven to lead to consensus and to Cabinet support for 
reviews undertaken. 
 
Standards Board 
The national body which oversees ethical standards of behaviour. 
 
S151 Officer 
The finance officer is employed under s151 of the Local Government Act, 1972 
- who is responsible for the financial probity and arrangements of the Council. 
 
Ward 
An area of Copeland for which elections are conducted. 
 
 

Page 111



57 
 

Work Programme 
The Work Programme sets out the work of the Committee for the 12-month 
period, although it may go beyond this. 

Page 112



  

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMUNITY YEARLY REPORT 2021 
 
LEAD MEMBER: Councilor John Kane, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee Chair 
LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services 

and Community Strategy 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Rose Blaney, Scrutiny Officer 
 
Why has this report come to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee? (e.g. 
Committee request, update report). 
 
This report has come to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to review 
the work carried out by Overview and Scrutiny and their Task & Finish 
Groups for 2021. 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
This yearly report is to review the work that has been carried out by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and their Task & Finish Groups for 2021. 
This report is different to the Annual Scrutiny Report, as this is to help the 
Committee themselves to review and analyse the work that has been done. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

1. To agree with the recommendations within paragraph 5.4 
2. Provide any comments and feedback on the contents of the report. 

 
 
 
 
1.     BACKGROUND  
 

1.1 This report has been brought to OSC to provide a summary of the 
work conducted by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) in 
2021 from June to November. 
 

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



  

1.2 The report does not cover work done before the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) in May 2021. 
 

1.3 The aim of the report is to allow OSC to review the work that has 
been done and review how to improve. 
 

1.4 This report is not the same as the Annual Scrutiny Report, the report 
which is sent to both the Executive and Full Council. This report is as 
an internal review of the work undertaken by OSC and possible 
improvements. 
 

1.5 The recommendations from each OSC meeting since June 2021 have 
been recorded by the Scrutiny Officer, along with any response from 
those that were sent to the Executive, to enable OSC to review them. 

 
2.     OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN 2021 
  
2.1 During the time covered within this report, five OSC meetings took 

place. There were originally six scheduled OSC meetings but one 
being cancelled due to. 

 
2.2 There were a total of 52 agenda items, over the five meetings, with 

35 of those being standing items. 
 
2.3 Those standing items consist of; Apologies for Absences, Declarations 

of Interest, Minutes of the Previous Meetings, Executive Forward 
Plan, Scrutiny Officer Update and Date and Time of the next meeting. 

 
2.4 From those five meetings, there were a total of 26 recommendations 

made. 18 of those recommendations were to note the reports 
received, 10 of these noted reports were minutes of the previous 
meeting and the Executive Forward Plan. 

 
2.5 The other six recommendations to note the reports related to: 

 Q4 Performance Plan 2020/21 

 Q4 Finance Report 2020/21 

 Footway Lighting Report 

Page 114



  

 Business Rates - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy Update 

 Q1 Performance Plan 2021/22 

 Q1 Finance Report 2021/22 

 Surveillance Equipment Report 

 Annual Feedback Summary 
 
2.6 It should be noted that, of the above recommendations to note the 

report, the Footway Lighting Report also included a recommendation 
to provide the Executive with their concerns and possible solutions 
for the Executive to consider. 

 
2.7 Two of the 26 recommendations related to Task and Finish Groups 

which will be covered in section three. 
 
2.8 The final six recommendations related to the following reports: 

 Outside Bodies Annual Report 

 Annual Scrutiny Report 

 DFG Discretionary Payments 

 Engagement with Schools 

 Fleet Renewal Update 

 Social Inclusion Showcase – Law Centre 
2.8.1 Outside Bodies Annual Report: it was recommended that the 

report be presented to Full Council and that the Scrutiny Officer 
review the report forms to promote accurate reporting. 

2.8.2 Annual Scrutiny Report: it was recommended that the report be 
presented to Full Council. 

2.8.3 DFG Discretionary Payments: it was recommended to support the 
initiative and recommend to the Executive that the piloted 
measure be included within the policy. 

2.8.4 Engagements with Schools: it was recommended that reports 
relating to engagement with schools be provided to members by 
the Scrutiny Officer and that the Committee be kept up to date on 
the engagements being undertaken. 

2.8.5 Fleet Renewal Update: It was recommended that thanks be given 
to not only the Portfolio Holder for providing the update but also 
to the Executive for working with OSC to provide them with the 
information that they requested. 

Page 115



  

2.8.6 Social Inclusion Showcase – Law Centre: it was recommended 
that the Executive agree to continue to provide the Cumbria Law 
Centre with funding as part of the Social Inclusion agenda. There 
was also a recommendation for the Executive to investigate the 
possibility of providing the Cumbria Law Centre with further 
funding to support their work, working with both the Head of 
Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion and the Scrutiny Officer. 

 
2.9 The outcomes of the above recommendations which were sent to 

the Executive can be found in section four. 
 
 
3.     TASK AND FINISH GROUPS IN 2021 
 
3.1 There were six Task & Finish Groups and two monitoring groups 

established in 2021. 
 
3.2 These groups are as followed: 

 Health & Wellbeing North Copeland 

 Health & Wellbeing South Copeland 

 Recycling 

 Housing 

 Social Media Review 

 Effective Digital Engagement 

 Budget Monitoring 

 Budget Development Analysis 
 
3.3 Following the first meeting of the Housing Task & Finish Group, it was 

agreed that the Group would be postponed until the Housing Team 
would be available to work with the group.  

 
3.4 However, the group did agree that there should be some guidance 

created to help councillors deal with any housing complaints that 
they receive from residents. 

 
3.5 The Housing Team worked with the Chair of the Housing Task & 

Finish Group to create a Housing Complaints Guidance document 

Page 116



  

that was presented to OSC for agreement in July for agreement 
before it was recommended to be distributed to all councillors by 
email. This is one of the recommendations alluded to in paragraph 
2.7. 

 
3.6 The Recycling Task and Finish Group presented their final report to 

OSC in July 2021 for agreement of OSC before the recommendations 
being sent to the Executive. This is the second recommendation 
alluded to in paragraph 2.7. 

 
3.7 The recommendations from the Recycling Task & Finish Group to the 

Executive were to accept the recommendations made within the 
report (which can be found in Appendix A of this report) and to 
forward those recommendations to the Executive. 

 
3.8 Due to some misunderstandings of communication, the Executive 

agreed with all but one recommendation. This recommendation was 
taken back to the Executive at their meeting. More detail of this 
matter can be seen in paragraph 4.4. 

 
3.9 Both the Social Media and Effective Digital Engagement Task & Finish 

Groups reports will be going to the Executive on 14 December 2021 
following their agreement at OSC on 2 December 2021. 

 
3.10 The remaining Task & Finish Groups (both Health & Wellbeing groups 

and the two Budget groups) have been postponed and are due to a 
review as to when they should begin to meet again. 

 
3.11 There are no new Task & Finish Group topics proposed for 2022. 
 
      
4.     EXECUTIVE RESPONSES 
 
4.1 In 2021, there have been three official scrutiny reports which have 

been presented to the Executive, and one more which is due in 
December. The rest have been verbal updates, one of which is due to 

Page 117



  

the Executive agenda being published before the OSC meeting could 
take place, leaving a report impracticable.  

 
4.2 At the July Executive, OSC recommended that agree the Recycling 

Task & Finish Groups recommendations (Appendix A). All but one 
recommendation was agreed. The recommendation was brought 
back to the Executive in September as a separate report. (Paragraph 
4.4) 

 
4.2 At the September Executive, OSC recommended that: 

 The Portfolio Holder for Commercial Services attend and 
provide information on the Fleet Renewal at the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 7th 
October 2021. 

 The Director of Financial Resources provide information 
on the Business Rates – Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 
for the 7th October 2021 meeting. 

 That OSCs concerns relating to the Footway Lighting 
Report be noted and the possible solutions relating to 
said report also be noted with feedback provided. 

 
4.3 The Executive agreed for both the Portfolio Holder for Commercial 

Services to attend (paragraph 2.8.5) and the Business Rates – 
Discretionary Rate Relief Policy to be presented (paragraph 2.5) at 
the October OSC meeting. They also noted the concerns highlighted 
regarding the Footway Lighting Report and provided feedback on the 
possible solutions proposed, which included adding environmental 
improvements (such as LED lights) into the final decision. 

 
4.4 Also presented to the Executive in September was a separate report 

relating to the Recycling Task & Finish Group recommendation which 
had not been agreed in July. The reason as to why the Executive did 
not agree with the recommendation was that the budget for the 
calendar printing had previously been removed and printing on 
request was already available. 

4.4.1 However, the Scrutiny Officer explained to the Executive that the 
recommendation had been misunderstood and that it aimed to 

Page 118



  

improve the communication, in order to reach those who are unable 
to use the existing contacts methods or access the calendar online. 
The Group understood why it would be an impossible task to supply 
every household within the borough with a pre-printed calendar. 
However, the fact that this was recognised as an issue meant that 
communication of how to access this service needed to be 
investigated and improved. 

4.4.2 It was highlighted by the Scrutiny officer that by the Executive 
agreeing the recommendation, the work done to date by both the 
Community Services and Copeland Direct Teams to deal with the 
requests can be promoted further and it will show (as the group 
wanted) that recommendations received to help with accessibility 
(such as CDF’s recommendations) will be taken into account. 

4.4.3 The Executive agreed with the recommendation following the 
explanation. 

 
4.5 At the November Executive, OSC recommended that: 

 Their support for the Business Rates - Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy Update be retroactively noted and that their comments 
be acknowledged and reiterated to the team. This is due to the 
policy being presented at the October Executive meeting, but 
OSC being unable to present a formal report to the Executive 
(due to the reasons given in 4.1). 

 Their recommendations in paragraph 2.8.5 of this report be 
given to the Executive. 

 That the Executive agree to continue to provide the Cumbria 
Law Centre with Funding as part of the Social Inclusion agenda. 
OSC also recommended that the Executive investigate the 
possibility of providing the Cumbria Law Centre with further 
funding to support their work, working with both the Head of 
Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion and the Scrutiny Officer. 

 
4.6 The Executive agreed to note the support for the Business Rates - 

Discretionary Rate Relief Policy Update and acknowledge the 
comments presented. The comments made relating to the Fleet 
Renewal Update were also noted. The Executive also agreed to 

Page 119



  

continue to provide funding to the Cumbria Law Centre with Funding 
as part of the Social Inclusion agenda. 

 
4.7 A discussion was had relating to the possibility to provide the 

Cumbria Law Centre with further funding, the Head of Strategic 
Housing and Social Inclusion commented that there was a possibility, 
with agreement from the Executive and the Section 151 Officer, that 
the funding to the Cumbria Law Centre can be increased by £5,000 
for the next two years without any negative impact on any other 
service within the Social Inclusion agenda. 

 
4.8 The Executive agreed to this proposal from the Head of Strategic 

Housing and Social Inclusion. Meaning that for the next two years, 
Copeland Borough Council will be providing the Cumbria Law Centre 
with £20,000 of funding rather than £15,000. 

 
4.9 The next OSC report to the Executive will be in December 2021 and 

will cover the recommendations made at both the November OSC 
meeting and the December OSC meeting. 

 
 
5.     WAYS FORWARD 
 
5.1 It should be noted that since the number of agenda items has 

decreased, such as from twelve in June to eight in November, there 
has been an increase in productivity and interaction. The decrease in 
standing items from nine to six has also helped with this. 

 
5.2 More needs to be done in terms of the recommendations that OSC 

produce and provide to the Executive. The statistics in paragraph 2.4 
show that more needs to be done, both in terms of what 
recommendations OSC can make but also in what reports OSC 
request to be presented at meetings. 

 
5.3 Although it should be noted that some of these reports for noting do 

also ask for feedback to be provided. Only one report has had any 

Page 120



  

notable feedback (paragraph 2.6). OSC need to work on this aspect of 
their work. 

 
5.4 Moving forward, OSC need to: 

a) Increase the number of meaningful recommendations 
produced to provide to the Executive 

b) Review the topics and reports being considered to come to 
OSC and the impact and improvements that OSC can 
recommend 

c) Improve the quality of feedback on reports that are for noting. 
d) Follow up on all recommendations made to the Executive by 

OSC and their outcomes. 
e) Review the recommendations made by Task & Finish groups 

ensure that they are being acted upon. 
 
5.5 A discussion will also be needed by OSC relating to the informal 

meetings and how the Committee would like those to be conducted 
going forward to ensure that members received the most out of 
those meetings. 

 
 
6.     CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 OSC has had a good year considering the ongoing pandemic, 

returning to face-to-face meetings and the change in Scrutiny Officer. 
 
6.2 Even with the positive aspects of the year, it is clear that more still 

needs to be done to promote effective contributions. 
 
6.3 By agreeing with the recommendations in paragraph 5.4 and having 

further discussions outside of formal meetings as mentioned in 
paragraph 5.5, OSC can continue to improve. 

 
6.4 Task & Finish Groups are a key part of OSC and council work as a 

whole, these need to be reviewed again in January 2022. 
 

Page 121



  

Appendices: Appendix A – Recycling Task & Finish 
Group Recommendations 

 
 
Background Papers: Reports from Overview and Scrutiny 

(to the Executive) – July, September 
and November 

Page 122



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

APPENDIX A 

 

Recycling Task & Finish Group Recommendations 

 

1 As mentioned in part 6 of this report, the group have created some 
recommendations for Overview and Scrutiny to consider and then, 
should they agree, forward to the Executive. The recommendations are: 

a) Review the current system in place for those who work 
shifts to prevent them working as many days without a 
break as they were requested to during the pandemic. 

b) Continue to support the Community Services Manager in 
resolving staffing issues and have staff be retained and 
made permanent where possible. 

c) Investigate a way to improve vehicle access on residential 
streets (6.17) while including the views of CDF regarding 
assisted collections. The group are willing to help create 
this. 

d) Work with CDF regarding distribution of printed calendars 
to residents, as was recommended in Appendix C, keeping 
in mind the current system of printing on request. 

2 The above recommendations can be achieved regardless of the outcome 

of LGR.  

3 The key recommendation from the group is that, following the LGR 

outcome, they would like for the group to be re-established to conduct 

the topics discussed in 6.10 to 6.15 keeping in mind CDF’s views in 

Appendix C. 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

Standing Items (Items will only appear on the agenda should there be an update) 

Item Corporate Plan Priority Purpose Lead Officer 

Executive Forward Plan 
 

All To identify any forthcoming 
items which the Committee 
may consider. 

Chief Executive 

Scrutiny Officer Updates All To update the Committee on 
the progress of Task and Finish 
Groups and the Work 
Programme 

Scrutiny Officer 

 

Agenda Items for Committee Meetings 

Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

4th 
November 
2021 
 
 
 
 

Ombudsman Annual 
Report 

All Annual Feedback Summary 
of the Comments, 
Compliments & Complaints 
of 2020/21 from the 
Ombudsman 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy  

Surveillance Policy 
 

All 
 

Report to support the 
implementation of the 
Surveillance Policy 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 9



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

 Strategy  

2nd 
December 
2021 
 
 

West Cumbria 
Community Safety 
Partnership Update 

All Update from the West 
Cumbria Community Safety 
Partnership as required as 
the Crime and Disorder 
Panel. 

Chief Executive 

Social Media Policy 
Review Task & Finish 
Group Report 

All Report on the findings of 
the Social Media Policy 
Review Task & Finish Group 

Scrutiny Officer 

Effective Digital 
Engagement Report 

All Report on the findings of 
the Effective Digital 
Engagement Task & Finish 
Group 

Scrutiny Officer 

Yearly Review All A Review by Scrutiny Officer 
to highlight the work done 
throughout the year, work 
to do in 2022 and any 
improvements 

Scrutiny Officer 

18th January 
2022  
 

Update to Climate 
Action Plan 

All Report to update the 
Committee on the Climate 
Action Plan. 

Chief Executive 

P
age 126



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

 Health & Safety 
Monitoring Half Yearly 
Report 

All Report on the Health & 
Safety Half Yearly 
Monitoring. 

Chief Executive  

 2021/22 Finance 
Report – Quarter 2 

All Report on the financial 
position of Copeland 
Council at the end of 
quarter two of 2020/21 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

 2021/22 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 2 

All Report on the performance 
of Copeland Council at the 
end of quarter two of 
2020/21 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy  

3rd February 
2022 
(Special) 

Draft Budget All The Mayor will present their 
Draft Budget proposals for 
the year 2022/2023 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

 

Items to be programmed into the OSC Work Programme 2021/22 

 

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



      
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Task and Finish Group Monitoring 

Task and Finish 

Group 

 

Chair of Task 
and Finish 
Group 

Progress  Next Step  Estimated 

Completion 

Date 

Health and Wellbeing 
North Copeland 

Cllr John Kane Membership 
confirmed. 

Initial contact being made with potential 
interviewees – ON HOLD 

ON HOLD 

Health and Wellbeing 
South Copeland 

Cllr Fee Wilson Membership 
confirmed. 

Initial contact being made with potential 
interviewees – ON HOLD 

ON HOLD 

Housing Cllr Mike 
Hawkins 

Membership 
confirmed. 

Group has agreed to delay moving 
forward until Q3 with main project. Small 
projects will continue in the meantime. 

TBC 

Social Media Policy 
Review 

Cllr Jeffrey 
Hailes 

Membership 
Confirmed 

Draft final report to be created. COMPLETE 

Effective Digital 
Engagement 

Cllr Russell 
Studholme 

Membership 
Confirmed 

Draft final report to be created. COMPLETE 

 

 

P
age 129



      
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

Working Group Chair of 
Working 
Group 

Progress Next Step Estimated 
Completion 
Date 

Budget Monitoring TBC Membership 

Confirmed 

Scope to be confirmed at the next 

meeting. 

ON HOLD 

Budget Development 

Analysis 

TBC Membership 

Confirmed 

Scope to be confirmed at the next 

meeting. 

ON HOLD 

P
age 130


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 4 November
	4 Executive Forward Plan
	6 Social Media Policy Review Task & Finish Group Report
	2021 Social Media Acceptable Use Policy

	7 Effective Digital Engagement Task & Finish Group Report
	CBC Website Page
	Final - OSC Toolkit 2021

	8 Yearly Review
	OSC Yearly Report 2021 - Appendix A

	9 Scrutiny Officer Updates
	Task and Finish Group Updates Draft 2021-22


